
Annual report 
2012–13

Dedicated to enhancing 
the quality of life  
of people living with epilepsy 
through information, 
education, advocacy, 
support services  
and research



Our purpose
The Epilepsy Foundation is dedicated to enhancing the quality of 
life of people living with epilepsy through information, education, 
advocacy, support services and research.

 Our approach  
Ensuring the Epilepsy Foundation develops a high-performing 
culture, one which utilises and extends our capabilities by working 
collaboratively where possible, and which works in accordance 
with our values, in a sustainable way, to deliver on our purpose.

 Our values
Equity and access: Ensuring that people living with epilepsy get 
a fair go and can connect to appropriate supports and services.

Participation and inclusion: Engaging people and building effective 
relationships based on a shared purpose.

Resourcefulness and innovation: Seeking better ways to do more 
with the resources available to us.

Trust and integrity: Displaying integrity in everything that we do 
thus enabling the people who rely on us to have confidence in 
our motives and abilities. 

Accountability: Fulfilling our responsibilities and obligations.

www.epinet.org.au
Epilepsy Helpline 1300 852 853
© Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated, 2013

Epilepsy Foundation
587 Canterbury Road
Surrey Hills Victoria 3127
phone (03) 8809 0600
fax (03) 9836 2124
web www.epinet.org.au

The Epilepsy Foundation would like to thank the clients who have 
willingly and openly told their stories throughout these pages.
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THIS YEAR, THE EPILEPSY FOUNDATION:

è Assisted more than 6,500 people, through our various programs, to understand and manage epilepsy better

è Implemented a successful move from Camberwell to Surrey Hills. Epilepsy Foundation Patron, The Hon. 
Ted Baillieu officially opened the building on 31 May

è Achieved certification, on our first attempt, under the One DHS Standards and ISO 9001/2008 Quality 
Management System, attesting to the quality of our services, operational structure and quality 
assurance processes

è Developed of a range of key epilepsy resources that support people with a disability and their families, as 
well as disability service providers and staff, under the National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) Practical 
Design Fund Project, funded by the Australian Government 

è Received funding from the JO & JR Wicking Trust-ANZ Trustees for a three-year project to research and 
address the needs of people with epilepsy over the age of 65 years

è Had two papers from the 2010 Australian Epilepsy Longitudinal Survey published in Epilepsy and Behavior, 
the respected international journal on epilepsy: ‘The E-Word’: Epilepsy and Perceptions of Unfair Treatment 
and Seizure-related injuries and hospitalizations 

è Received a grant of $100,000 from the Victorian Department of Health as part of its Health Condition 
Support Grants Program designed to develop peer support programs and pilot a peer support partnership 
model with Bendigo Community Health Services

è Grew our Purple Day for Epilepsy fundraising from $48,100 to $75,033; increased bequest income from 
$122,738 to $162,315; grew In Memory donations from $8,198 to $26,082 and saw a substantial growth 
in Op Shop income from $573,924 to $689,748

è Was pleased to see one of our most dedicated supporters, Epilepsy Ambassador, Jeff ‘Joffa’ Corfe, be 
announced as a joint winner of the Volunteer of the Year Award at the Fundraising Institute Australia 
Awards for Excellence in Fundraising

è Appointed our first Youth Ambassador, Alice Macmillan

è Continued as charity partner with Melbourne Storm, which helped raise awareness and build our brand

è Launched the Unfair Treatment research on 25 March 2013 with Josh Frydenberg, an event which was  
well-attended by clients and supporters, gave a focus for Purple Day, introduced our new premises and 
extended engagement with research participants, clients and supporters

è Won the Victorian Disability Sector Award for Health Management for the Education and Training team’s 
work to create one standardised Epilepsy Management Plan for the disability sector; the Awards are a joint 
initiative between National Disability Services and the Victorian Department of Human Services

Highlights of 2012–13 
at a glance
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Our aspirations

CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND ADULTS  
WITH EPILEPSY
• Increased self-esteem and confidence about living 

well with epilepsy

• Ability to connect with other people living with 
epilepsy

• Equitable educational and occupational 
opportunities 

• Increased opportunities to participate in 
community life

• Individualised knowledge and skills to enhance 
their own wellbeing 

• Access to support services 

• Support at key transition points

• Value and use the Foundation as the best source 
of epilepsy knowledge and education

• Live in a community free from stigma about 
epilepsy

FAMILIES AND SUPPORT NETWORKS  
OF PEOPLE WITH EPILEPSY
• Confident and knowledgeable

• Significant relationships are healthy in regard 
to epilepsy 

• Access to opportunities for support and networking

• Access to relevant services

• Support at key transition points

• Value and use the Foundation as the source of 
epilepsy knowledge and education

OTHER SERVICE PROVIDERS
• Understand epilepsy and its impact on individuals 

and their families

• Equitable access to their services for people living 
with epilepsy

• Value and use the Foundation as the source of 
epilepsy knowledge and education

• Implement best epilepsy practice 

THE COMMUNITY
• Is inclusive of people with epilepsy

• Provides increased opportunities for participation 

• Responds to the needs and aspirations of people 
living with epilepsy 

• Understands epilepsy and affirms people living 
with epilepsy as valued members

• Supports the funding needs of the Foundation

• Actively participates in epilepsy-related events

EPILEPSY FOUNDATION
• Is driven by the needs of people living with epilepsy

• Is recognised as the premier community-based 
epilepsy organisation in Victoria

• Is sustainable

• Grows in knowledge and capacity and continually 
strives for best practice

• Has the right people and sufficient resources

IN THE EPILEPSY SERVICE SECTOR, WE
• Share knowledge, experience, resources and 

program initiatives

• Work together using a coordinated approach to 
improve services 

• Give people living with epilepsy a national voice 
and become an effective advocate

We aim to achieve our aspirations by working collaboratively with governments at all levels and other health 
and community-based organisations, to identify existing programs to which we can add value, or potential 
joint programs, and to ensure the appropriate and optimum use of our resources.
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About the Epilepsy Foundation 

The Epilepsy Foundation is Australia’s largest community 
support agency for people living with epilepsy and their 
families. Services have been provided since May 1964, 
across Melbourne and regional Victoria, from our offices 
in Camberwell and Geelong and now our new head office 
in Surrey Hills.

We also support other state service providers and have 
played an active role in the national peak body, the Joint 
Epilepsy Council of Australia (JECA), and the national 
federation of state-based epilepsy associations, Epilepsy 
Australia. We also work closely with health-based 
organisations, education institutions and governments to 
deliver services in partnership and to improve education 
and understanding of epilepsy at the professional level.

The Epilepsy Foundation provides support for people living 
with epilepsy and their families to help them achieve 
their goals. We strive to raise awareness of epilepsy in 
the community to reduce stigma and create a more 
welcoming and inclusive society.

People seek our services for a variety of reasons, 
depending on their age, stage of life, individual needs, the 
unique problems or issues they may be facing and their 
personal goals and aspirations.

Our services depend very much on individual needs. 
One of our primary aims is to see people managing their 
epilepsy in a way that enables them to live, study or work 
and participate in the activities they enjoy. Many people 
with epilepsy are able to play sport, swim, go to the 
movies and, after meeting Vic Roads requirements, drive 
a car. Importantly, we work with people to help them 
regain their confidence so that they can continue to do 
the things they love or that matter most to them.

Services can be accessed in person, over the 
telephone, on line, via email or in a range of community 
settings such as a person’s home, school or workplace, 
and include:

• Information, library and resources on all aspects of 
living with epilepsy

• Individual and family support including advice, 
epilepsy counselling, case management and practical 
assistance

• Support for groups that gives an opportunity for people 
to talk with others, share experiences, problems and 
solutions for coping with epilepsy and enjoy activities

• Advocacy for individuals and families living with 
epilepsy

• Education and training to schools, the health 
profession, aged care and disability services, 
government departments and the wider community

• Psychological/social research and policy reform to 
understand more about the psychological and social 
aspects of living with epilepsy and ensure systemic 
change and advocacy for people with epilepsy at all 
levels of government and in the community.

The Epilepsy Foundation has developed the Australian 
Epilepsy Research Register, a national database of people 
with epilepsy, which is the basis for data collection in the 
Longitudinal Study and other research projects. Currently, 
the database has more than 1,000 people from all states 
and territories who regularly participate in research 
projects that assist us to better understand the needs of 
people living with epilepsy and to shape service delivery 
and policy development.

This year, we also took the lead epilepsy agency role in 
the development of a range of key epilepsy resources 
that support people with a disability and their families, 
as well as disability service providers and staff, under 
the National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) 
Practical Design Fund Project, funded by the Australian 
Government.
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Life was very normal for Jordan Vezey. At that time, 
Jordan, aged 4, and his mum, Natalie Allen, dad, Mark, 
and brother, Jackson, aged 8, had just returned from an 
annual holiday to Fiji.  

It was Mark who first noticed that Jordan seemed to 
be falling down a lot. “Mark had seen Jordan having a 
drop attack in our lounge room that day,” says Natalie.  
“Then we were all sitting around at a family gathering 
at my dad’s unit when Jordan had two drop attacks in a 
short period of time. Then he stood up to put his jumper 
on and he fell over again. It was then Mark said to me 
‘there’s something wrong with him,’ and we called an 
ambulance”.

After undergoing a series of tests, doctors diagnosed 
epilepsy. In reality, their long and difficult journey with 
Jordan and his epilepsy had only just begun. Their 
first battle was the ‘trial and error’ of getting Jordan’s 
medication right. We tried everything from chocolate 
sauce to custard, but Jordan wouldn’t take the 
medication. 

Various types of medication were tried, and in the 
meantime, other seizures started to appear. Each time 
Jordan was admitted to the Children’s Hospital, it seemed 
that a different type of seizure appeared. They were never 
confident of being able to know about the seizure itself 
because they changed constantly.

The next 12 months was a most difficult time for Natalie 
and Mark as Jordan’s seizures remained uncontrolled. It 
was a matter of trying all medications to get one that was 
right for him. But for Natalie it was a nightmare as she 
watched her funny, cheeky, kind-natured son sometimes 
be like a ‘zombie’ who could do nothing but sleep, to the 
other extreme of being highly hyperactive, going ‘berserk’ 
because of a reaction to another type of medication.

After many hospital visits, Jordan was diagnosed with 
Myoclonic Astatic Epilepsy (MAE) or Doose syndrome.  
MAE usually occurs in early childhood, is often resistant 
to medication and can be difficult to treat.  

When Jordan was in hospital, Natalie was given the 
contact number for the Epilepsy Foundation and advised 
to ring them. Natalie quickly contacted the Foundation 
and that was how she came to know the people she 
refers to as “her angels” – “because they have walked 
with me every step of the way”.

The Foundation’s Education and Training unit provided 
midazolam training for their family and friends. The 
Foundation also provided the same training and education 
for teachers at Jordan’s kindergarten and school. Natalie’s 
counsellor at the Foundation also went to meetings with 
his kindergarten and school teachers during Jordan’s 
transition from kinder to school.

As Natalie says, he is probably slower to learn, he needs 
a lot of extra help at home and his teacher gives him 
more work to do to help him keep up. “Because Jordan 
doesn’t have epilepsy together with some other disability 
or learning problem, he doesn’t qualify for any additional 
support at school. So if we don’t contribute that time to 
him ourselves, he could just fall under the radar.”

“The Epilepsy Foundation has been phenomenal. Nothing 
is ever a problem, and if Jean isn’t available, then I’m put 
onto someone that I can trust just as much,” says Natalie. 
“Sometimes when Jean came to see me, I would be in 
tears just knowing she was there. Or the phone would 
ring, and it would be Jean saying ‘just ringing to see how 
you’re travelling’. It is worth a million dollars to hear 
someone’s voice who knows exactly how it is and has 
empathy for what we’re going through.”

Jordan Vezey: 
A life-changing 
two years
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Our strategy
Five Strategic Outcomes continued to guide our work during 2012–13. 

Strategic Outcome 1
ENHANCED QUALITY OF LIFE FOR PEOPLE 
LIVING WITH EPILEPSY

• Develop a deep understanding of the needs of 
people living with epilepsy

• Develop and deliver person and family-centred 
services

• Build the capacity of the person and family to  
self-manage their epilepsy

• Continue to improve our services to people living 
with epilepsy

• Support self-advocacy and advocate on systemic 
and individual issues

• Implement a psychosocial research policy/strategy

Strategic Outcome 2
SERVICE PROVIDERS ABLE TO SUPPORT PEOPLE  
AND FAMILIES LIVING WITH EPILEPSY  

• Build the capacity of service providers using a person 
and family centred approach that includes the 
‘voice’ of people living with epilepsy

• Strengthen relationships and partnerships with the 
medical sector

Strategic Outcome 3
SUCCESSFUL COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

• Position the Epilepsy Foundation as the ‘go to’ 
organisation for epilepsy

• Build community awareness

• Build a suite of events across the year

• Establish an ambassador program

• Engage governments

• Increase volunteer participation

• Funding needs supported and charity of choice 
status for a significant number of Victorians

Strategic Outcome 4
EPILEPSY FOUNDATION IS SUSTAINABLE

• Implement a quality framework and audit process 
across the organisation

• Develop other assets/income streams to support 
core activities 

• Maximise funds to enable the Epilepsy Foundation 
to support people living with epilepsy now and in 
the future

• Invest in staff and develop a collaborative and 
productive culture

• Develop organisational infrastructure and 
technology supports

Strategic Outcome 5
EPILEPSY SERVICE SECTOR COLLABORATES WELL

• Market knowledge and experience to create 
positive change

• Work together to improve the lives of people living 
with epilepsy

• Give people living with epilepsy a national voice
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About epilepsy

Epilepsy is a significant community problem. People living 
with uncontrolled epilepsy suffer from wide-ranging 
physical, psychological and social issues, as epilepsy 
impacts on every aspect of their lives and the lives of their 
families and carers. These include being disadvantaged 
in obtaining an education, loss of employment or limited 
employment prospects, social isolation, loss of enjoyment 
or participation in everyday life, relationship problems 
and, potentially, chronic depression.

Epilepsy is also a silent problem. The social stigma, 
coupled with the emotional and physical trauma 
associated with uncontrolled epilepsy, means many 
people avoid revealing they have epilepsy – to their 
employer, their friends, even their loved ones – for fear of 
rejection, ridicule or lost opportunity. These are very real 
fears, as stigma and ignorance still exist today.

What is epilepsy?
Epilepsy is a disorder of brain function that takes the form 
of recurring seizures. Our thoughts, feelings and actions 
are controlled by brain cells that communicate with each 
other through regular electrical impulses. A seizure occurs 
when sudden uncontrolled bursts of electrical activity 
disrupt this regular pattern. 

This can be confined to just one part of the brain or can 
occur right across the brain. Communication between 
cells becomes scrambled and our thoughts, feelings 
or movements become momentarily confused or 
uncontrolled. 

While seizures can be frightening, in most instances 
they stop without intervention. Once the seizure is 
over the person gradually regains control and reorients 
themselves to their surroundings, generally without any 
ill-effects. Approximately 70 percent of people diagnosed 
with epilepsy will have their seizures controlled with 
medication.

Epilepsy takes many different forms
There are many different types of seizures, depending on 
which part of the brain the seizures occur and how much 
of the brain is affected, making epilepsy an extremely 
difficult condition to accurately diagnose and treat. 

Sometimes a person with epilepsy will experience only 
one type of seizure throughout their life, while others 
may experience different types. It is also sometimes 
difficult to tell if a person is actually having a seizure – 
they may simply look like they are daydreaming or lose 
concentration for a moment.

Generally, seizures fall into two categories: focal or partial 
seizures and primary generalised seizures. The difference 
between these types is how they begin.

Different types of seizures are:

Focal seizures
• Focal seizure with retained awareness

• Focal dyscognitive seizure

• Bilateral convulsive seizure

Generalised seizures
• Absence seizures

• Myoclonic seizures

• Atonic seizures

• Tonic seizures

• Tonic-clonic seizures

• Clonic siezures.

Status epilepticus
Status epilepticus (‘status’) is the term used to describe 
prolonged seizures of 30 minutes or more, or the 
occurrence of repeated seizures without regaining 
consciousness between attacks.

It is now widely accepted that after five to 10 minutes, 
damage is being done to neural tissue, hence the 
definition of status epilepticus is currently being reviewed, 
with some suggesting five minutes for convulsive seizures 
and 30 minutes for non-convulsive seizures constitute 
status epilepticus.



 Epilepsy Foundation  •  Annual report 2012–13 9

‘Status’ can occur with any type of seizure and is 
categorised as either convulsive or non-convulsive. 
‘Status’ can last from hours to days or, in the case of non-
convulsive ‘status’, even weeks or months. 

Factors that may lead to ‘status’ include sudden 
withdrawal from medication, illness, fever and infections.

Convulsive ‘status’ may ultimately lead to brain damage 
and death unless stopped quickly – usually with the 
administration of emergency medication. Non-medical 
people such as parents and teachers can be trained to 
administer midazolam for someone who has a tendency 
to have prolonged seizures or clusters. This option would 
need to be discussed with a doctor who may prescribe 
emergency medication. 

It is recommended that an Emergency Medication 
Management Plan be completed by the prescribing doctor 
and attached to the person’s Epilepsy Management 
Plan when emergency medication has been prescribed 
for epilepsy. Emergency Medication Plans and Epilepsy 
Management Plans are available from the Epilepsy 
Foundation. Training in the administration of emergency 
medication is strongly recommended and can be provided 
by the Epilepsy Foundation.

Epilepsy syndromes
A seizure is the physical sign that there has been a 
disruption to the normal functioning of the brain. If a 
person is told they have epilepsy it simply means that 
they have started experiencing seizures on a recurring 
basis. The seizures in epilepsy may be related to a 
brain injury or a family tendency, but often the cause is 
completely unknown. They tend to be unpredictable and 
occur without provocation. 

While epilepsy is also known as a seizure disorder, it is not 
just one disorder. As there are different types of seizures, 
so too are there different types of epilepsy disorders, 
called the epilepsies, each with its own particular set of 
features. When a disorder is defined by a characteristic 
group of features that usually occur together, it is called a 
syndrome. Epilepsy syndromes are defined by a cluster of 
features including:

• Seizure type(s) and their severity and frequency

• The age of onset

• The causes of the seizures and whether there is a 
familial link

• The part of the brain involved

• Electroencephalograph (EEG) activity

• Seizure-provoking factors and

• The presence of other disorders in addition to seizures.

By understanding the nature and presentation of a 
particular syndrome the treating doctor can implement 
the most appropriate form of treatment and may be 
able to predict whether seizures will lessen or disappear 
over time. 

How many people  
are affected by epilepsy? 
• Approximately one in 25 or 214,160 people living in 

Victoria* will have epilepsy in their lifetime.  

• The number of people who are significantly 
affected by epilepsy including, for example, 
family members and carers, will be four times 
this number, or 856,000 people.

• Up to 10 percent of people in Victoria will have 
a seizure in their lifetime, due to epilepsy or other 
health conditions. This represents 535,400 people 
who are directly affected or 2.15 million people 
indirectly, yet significantly, affected. Seizures 
from epilepsy make up the major proportion 
of total seizures.

• Epilepsy was ranked in the top five avoidable 
causes of death in young people aged 5–29. (The 
Victorian Government’s report Avoidable Mortality 
in Victoria – Trends between 1997 and 2003.) 
Despite this alarming figure, it was also noted that 
epilepsy is a condition that can be well-managed 
and responds to early detection and treatment, 
typically in a primary health care setting.

• Recent US studies estimate 7 percent of people 
over the age of 65 will develop epilepsy. As at 
August 2013, there were 3.1 million people aged 
65 and over in Australia. Within this age group 
it is therefore estimated that approximately 
215,800 people will develop epilepsy.

* Current Census data has the Victorian population at 
5,354,040 (2011).
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About funding
The Epilepsy Foundation receives funding from the 
Victorian Government Department of Human Services. 

In 2012–13, the Epilepsy Foundation provided advice, 
information and support to 6,597 people. We support 
people of all ages, from babies and children through all 
stages of adulthood.

This year, we received $1,261,432 in government funds, 
which covered approximately one-third of the cost of 
providing services and met only the most urgent needs. 

We receive no government funding to support children 
who are under school-age, people who develop epilepsy 
over the age of 65, or those who have not started 
receiving services from us before 65. 

However, we continued to provide services to 
these groups from our charitable funds. These two 
demographic groups are particularly important to the 
Epilepsy Foundation given the number of young children 
who present with often uncontrolled and difficult to 
manage epilepsy (such as Dravet Syndrome, a particularly 
severe form of childhood epilepsy), and the fact that our 
ageing population means more and more older Victorians 
will experience their first seizure beyond the age of 65.

Our annual fundraising efforts are vital in ensuring we are 
able to meet the significant shortfall and can continue 
providing services at the current level. While our limited 
financial resources were fully utilised in providing services 
to all those who sought assistance in the past year, we 
know that there are many thousands of people living 
with epilepsy, as well as many more family members and 
carers who are affected by epilepsy, whose needs are 
not being met and for whom we simply do not have the 
resources to help.

The Epilepsy Foundation 
acknowledges the support  
of the Victorian Government.

We know that some people with epilepsy are able to 
live well and with little support, as their seizures are 
well under control. However, many people who could 
benefit from our services are not seeking help, either 
due to a lack of referral or awareness, or because of the 
perceived stigma associated with seeking help. We are 
also mindful of the growing strain that is being placed 
on our resources by our ageing population, which will 
continue as many more people over 65 experience their 
first seizures.

The prevalence and predicted growth in demand means 
a growing pressure on our limited resources which, in 
turn, means we must continue seeking new, sustainable 
and collaborative partnerships and strategies for 
delivering services. 

Our aim is to continue to develop a sustainable 
organisation that has the capacity to not only meet 
the current needs, but can expand services to those 
not currently being assisted and cope with the growing 
demand, while undertaking proactive programs to 
increase awareness of epilepsy and seizure first aid in 
the community.
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Corporate
governance
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Report of the President  
and Chief Executive Officer

Epilepsy affects a lot of us and it can and does have 
serious consequences.

People with epilepsy often experience fear, anxiety, 
stigma and social isolation. This can mean people feel 
unable to disclose their epilepsy.

The Epilepsy Foundation exists as a knowledgeable friend 
in times of crisis or need. We support individuals and 
their families.

It is pleasing to report that our new ‘Epilepsy Know Me, 
Support Me’ resources for epilepsy management in the 
disability sector have been welcomed by both people 
with epilepsy and organisations within the disability 
sector. The development of these resources was made 
possible with funding from the Australian Government’s 
NDIS Practical Design Fund.

Research into the psychological and social impacts of 
epilepsy remains a key focus of the Epilepsy Foundation. 
Our national Australian Epilepsy Research Register 
continues to grow in all states and territories. The 
research highlight for the year was the publishing of two 
papers from our Longitudinal Study in the international 
journal Epilepsy and Behavior. Our evidence-based 
research from our Longitudinal Study is used to influence 
government policy and to advocate for necessary 
changes in health practice.

The paper, ‘The E-Word’ found that 48 percent of 
longitudinal study respondents reported perceptions 
of unfair treatment as a result of their epilepsy. 
Discrimination in the workplace remains of key concern, 
with 47 percent citing examples of unfair treatment. 
The paper concluded that in spite of Australian anti-
discrimination laws, the findings indicated that full-time 
employment rates for people with epilepsy are lower 
than previously reported and that further action is 
required to improve education and reduce stigma.

The second paper, Seizure-related injuries and 
hospitalizations found that 64 percent of respondents 
to the Longitudinal Study reported injuries requiring 
hospital treatment. The high rate of hospitalisations, 
largely for soft tissue injuries (85 percent), suggests that 
access to more appropriate care was not available. The 
report recommended further research into this and that 
awareness of injury risks is an important part of self-
management of epilepsy.

There is an increasing number of people looking to 
us for support. Generating sufficient funds to meet 
the increasing demand for services continues to be 
challenging. There is much more we could do to improve 
the quality of life for people living with epilepsy if extra 
resources were available to us.

Community understanding and support is essential for 
a more inclusive society, a reduction in stigma and an 
improved quality of life for people living with epilepsy.
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We have an economy that is the envy of the world and 
yet 40 percent of our clients surveyed are living below the 
poverty line. This situation will remain unresolved until 
stigma about epilepsy is reduced and the community 
better understands the condition and its impacts on 
individuals and families. We are growing our education 
and training programs to address this vital issue and to 
prepare for the introduction of the National Disability 
Insurance Scheme.

The move to a new home for the Epilepsy Foundation 
was completed in December 2012. The commercial 
building at 587 Canterbury Road, Surrey Hills, was 
refurbished to suit our needs. This is an exciting time 
for the Foundation and the move has provided office 
accommodation that is more suitable to the way the 
organisation works. Importantly, the vision the founders 
had of the Foundation owning property, so that there 
is always a place for people living with epilepsy, has 
been continued. 

Community support for Purple Day on 26 March continues 
to grow. This event is a focal point for epilepsy awareness 
week and a key part of our community engagement 
programs.

The Department of Human Services in Victoria continues 
to provide valuable support by partnering with the 
Foundation in providing services to people from school 
age through to 65 who meet the disability criteria. 
All other services we provide are supported from our 
charitable funds.

During the year, we attended State funerals for two of 
our inspirational patrons in Dame Elisabeth Murdoch ACE 
CBE and The Hon. Joan Child AO. These great women will 
be sadly missed.

We thank our dedicated staff and volunteers for their 
passion and hard work. We thank our Board and Patrons 
for their wise counsel and support. Thank you also to all 
people and organisations that provided philanthropic 
support as they are the key to enabling the ongoing 
delivery of our services and the development of new 
programs that will make a significant impact on the lives 
of people with epilepsy. 

PROF. MARK COOK 
President

GRAEME SHEARS 
Chief Executive Officer 

CHAIRMAN: Claude Ullin JP 
Ted Baillieu MLA
Dame Beryl Beaurepaire AC OBE
John Blackman
The Hon. Bernard Bongiorno AO
Philip Brady
Julian Burnside AO QC
Professor Ed Byrne AO
The Hon. John Cain
Sean Cummins
Ivan Deveson AO

Melanie Eagle
Josh Frydenberg MP
David Galbally AM QC
Rhonda Galbally AO
Professor Petro Georgiou AO
Stera Gutnik
Professor David Hayward
Professor Brian Howe AO
John Jost
Robert Kirby
Justin Madden

Judy Maddigan 
Neil Mitchell
Emeritus Professor 
Sir Gustav Nossal AC CBE 
Barbara Rozenes
Peter Smith OAM
Ross Smith OAM
Richard Stanley QC
Michael Stillwell
Luisa Valmorbida

Epilepsy Foundation Patrons Council
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Our structure

The Board of the Epilepsy Foundation is responsible for 
the corporate governance of the organisation. It guides 
and monitors the business and its affairs on behalf of 
the members to whom it is accountable. Its focus is 
to enhance the interests of members and the wider 
constituency of the epilepsy community.

The Board is committed to achieving and demonstrating 
the highest standards of corporate governance. The 
relationship between the Board and senior management 
is important to the Epilepsy Foundation’s long term 
success. Day-to-day management of the Epilepsy 
Foundation’s affairs, operation and administration, 
and the implementation of the corporate strategy and 
policy initiatives, are formally delegated by the Board 
to the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The Board, CEO and 
Executive Team set the corporate strategic direction.

A description of the Epilepsy Foundation’s main corporate 
governance practices is set out below. All of these 
practices, unless otherwise stated, were in place for the 
entire financial year.

Composition of the Board
The Board consists of up to nine persons who are all non-
executive members. The Board comprises persons with 
an appropriate range of qualifications and knowledge 
of finance, business, law, marketing, information 
technology, property, epilepsy, research, disability and 
consumer issues. Members act in a voluntary capacity 
and do not receive remuneration.

Board members’ responsibilities
The Board acts on behalf of, and is accountable to, the 
members. It identifies the expectations of members 
and the wider constituency and monitors changes in 
government policy and community expectations.

The Associations Incorporation Act and the Epilepsy 
Foundation’s Constitution govern the regulation of 
meetings and proceedings of the Board. The Board 
meets regularly and monitors the achievement of 
agreed targets and financial objectives against budget.

Relevant staff members attend Board meetings.

Board members’ terms of office
The Epilepsy Foundation’s Constitution specifies the terms 
for Board members.

Risk assessment and management
The Board is responsible for ensuring there are adequate 
policies in relation to risk oversight and management, 
and internal control systems. Policies are designed to 
ensure strategic, operational, legal, reputation and 
financial risks are identified, assessed, addressed and 
monitored to enable achievement of the Epilepsy 
Foundation’s business objectives.
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The Board (as at 31 December 2013)

PROF. MARK COOK – PRESIDENT

Currently Sir John Eccles Chair 
of Medicine at the University of 
Melbourne, St Vincent’s Hospital, 
Professor Cook specialises in the 
treatment of epilepsy, and is Director 
of Neurology. He is recognised 
internationally for his expertise in 
epilepsy management, particularly 
imaging and surgical planning. After 
completing specialist training in 
Melbourne, he undertook further 
training at Queen Square, London. 
He returned to St Vincent’s Hospital, 
Melbourne, to continue his interest in 
neuroimaging in epilepsy. Currently 
one of the largest units in Australia 
for the surgical treatment of 
epilepsy, this was a direct extension 
of work he began in London, 
where he developed techniques 
for the accurate measurement 
of hippocampal volumes and 
established their position in non-
invasive assessment of surgical 
candidates. More recently, his 
interests have included experimental 
models of epilepsy and seizure 
prediction.

DR CHRISTINE WALKER

Christine is currently Executive Officer 
of the Chronic Illness Alliance Inc., 
a peak body representing more 
than 50 consumer and advocacy 
organisations for people with 
chronic illness. In this role, she 
works collaboratively with a number 
of organisations, government 
departments and universities, 
to further the Alliance’s aims of 
improving the lives of people with 
chronic illness. Christine completed 
a PhD in 1995. She has experience 
in qualitative research and is Chief 
Investigator on a number of research 
projects. Christine has provided 
advice and assistance regarding 
a Longitudinal Study of the social 
impact of epilepsy. She is a Board 
member of the NPS and a member 
of the Independent Advisory 
Council for the Personally Controlled 
Electronic Health Record. She is the 
Treasurer of Epilepsy Australia.

JIM CAMPBELL, AM

Jim has been a senior leader and 
change agent in the ADF, Australian 
Government departments and public 
and private companies for 29 years. 
During the last 11 years, he has 
worked in the not-for-profit sector, 
successfully completing major 
restructures and integration projects 
with Vision Australia, Multiple 
Sclerosis Limited, St Vincent de 
Paul and a joint venture that led to 
VicBionics. Jim has undertaken work 
with numerous not-for-profit boards 
and executives on performance 
evaluation, strategic planning, 
including ICT strategies, governance 
and business planning. He is 
currently consulting in the Victorian 
water industry and has practised as 
a Company Director since 1991. Jim 
is the past Chair of the Fundraising 
Sub-committee and the Finance 
Audit and Risk Management Sub-
committee and continues to serve 
on both. Jim is an Arts graduate of 
the Royal Military College of Australia 
and a business postgraduate of 
Monash University. Jim has personal 
family experience with epilepsy.
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SALLY GENSER

Sally Genser has been a member of 
the Board for more than seven years. 
She was also a Board member of 
Yarra Health Services and President 
of the Richmond Creche Society 
for many years and is now a Life 
Member of Richmond Creche Society. 
Sally is a licensed estate agent and 
has been a Director of The Belgrave 
Group of Companies for more than 
20 years and Jewish Care Victoria for 
three years. The Belgrave Group is 
a boutique, family-owned property 
development group, which has been 
in business for more than 50 years, 
completing projects in residential, 
office, commercial, industrial, aged 
care, child care and hospitality and 
which has recently expanded to 
China. Sally was, for many years, an 
advisor to The Meat Workers Union 
Industry Employees Superannuation 
Fund advising on its property 
investment portfolio. She is also 
Managing Director of Quest Phillip 
Island (Serviced Apartments).

DR LINDSAY VOWELS

Dr Lindsay Vowels’ career has 
spanned more than 40 years in the 
disability sector, working primarily 
with people with a neurological 
disability. She is a consultant 
Neuropsychologist and Clinical 
Psychologist and works in a voluntary 
capacity with several applied 
research projects including the MS 
Longitudinal Database. Lindsay 
joined the Board in 1992, holding 
the positions of President and Vice 
President, and is the founding and 
past Chair of Epilepsy Australia. Her 
interests lie in the quality of services 
available to people with epilepsy, 
the education and training available 
to professional staff employed by 
the Foundation and support and 
education services in rural and 
remote areas. She is involved in 
research into the psychosocial 
impact of epilepsy on individuals and 
their families, having convened the 
Research Working Party since 2004. 
Her hope is for a national research 
body to ensure all issues affecting 
people with epilepsy are adequately 
documented, investigated and 
publicised.

KATE MARSHALL

Kate Marshall is a partner with the 
commercial law firm K&L Gates. She 
has an LLB and B.Juris from Monash 
University and a Graduate Diploma 
(IP) from Melbourne University. She 
has specialised in technology and 
intellectual property commercial 
matters and disputes for over 
20 years. Kate is Chair of the K&L 
Gates Diversity Committee and a 
member of the Victorian Women 
Lawyers Work Practices Committee. 
She has been a long term supporter 
of flexible work practices in a 
profession that has often found this 
challenging and continues to work 
at creating greater flexibility within 
the workplace. She has also been on 
the committee of management for 
various not-for-profit organisations 
and is involved with pro bono work 
across a variety of sectors. Kate 
has a son who has recently been 
diagnosed with Juvenile Myoclonic 
Epilepsy.

The Board (as at 31 December 2013)
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PETER GOVER

Peter Gover is the Chief Financial 
Officer of The Bionics Institute of 
Australia, which is a not-for-profit 
medical research institute working in 
a number of health areas including 
epilepsy. Peter has a Bachelor of 
Accounting Science (Hons) and is a 
member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Australia. Peter has 
worked for the past decade in the 
not-for-profit sector, including a 
period where he consulted to several 
boards on financial management, 
governance issues and regulatory 
compliance. Previously, Peter was 
employed in various senior executive 
banking roles and held a number of 
Board appointments. Peter is married 
and has two teenage children. 

CORINNE YOUNG, GAICD

Corinne is currently the Manager of 
Corporate Support Services at the 
RACV. Corinne is an experienced 
senior executive who has worked 
in the state government, statutory 
authorities and community sector. 
She has worked across the areas 
of education, the environment, 
transport, community development, 
Aboriginal Affairs and corporate 
services to improve social, 
environmental and economic 
outcomes. Corinne has extensive 
experience developing and 
implementing policy, organisational 
change, human resource 
management and service delivery. 
She holds a Master of Education 
from the University of Melbourne 
and a Master of Public Policy 
and Management from Monash 
University. Corinne has been a 
member of the Epilepsy Foundation 
for 15 years and has had personal 
family experience with epilepsy. 
She is interested in promoting an 
inclusive and stigma-free society 
through education and public 
awareness.

JOSEPH AZOULAY 

Joe joined the Finance, Audit and 
Risk Management Sub-committee 
of the Epilepsy Foundation in April 
2013 and subsequently joined the 
Board in September 2013. Joe has 
been a Director of Deutsche Bank’s 
Asset and Wealth Management 
Division since 2008 and is responsible 
for advisory client relationships, 
specialising in ultra-high net worth 
individuals and family offices where 
he advises on a wide range of 
asset classes and also in tailoring 
client investment solutions. 
Previously, Joe was COO of boutique 
fund manager, Kira Capital, and 
Corporate and Business Manager 
for privately-owned group, Century 
Plaza. Joe commenced his career 
at corporate advisory firm Hindal 
Corporate. He holds a Bachelor of 
Commerce and Bachelor of Arts 
from the University of Melbourne 
and is a Senior Associate of FINSIA. 
He has also completed the Leading 
Professional Services Firms course 
at Harvard Business School, Boston. 
Joe is passionate about assisting 
families who have been affected by 
epilepsy and ensuring children with 
epilepsy are provided with equal 
opportunities. He is married with 
two children. 
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Allegra Patty:  
An ‘awesome’
little girl

Allegra, or Ally, has been diagnosed with Dravet Syndrome, 
a severe form of epilepsy that begins in infancy.

“At 5½ months of age, she had the first seizure that we 
know of. She was in my arms and was having jerks, which 
must have been myoclonic jerks,” says Mum, Marissa. 
Allegra spent two nights in the Austin Hospital, the first 
of many trips to hospital. She had her next seizure a few 
weeks later. This time, the seizure went for 20 minutes. 

Allegra was then referred to paediatric neurologist, Dr 
Ingrid Scheffer, who diagnosed epilepsy. “I was still 
hoping at this stage that Ally would just grow out of the 
seizures,” says Marissa. 

“Ingrid’s thinking at that stage was still that it was Sturge 
Weber because of the birthmark,” she says. “At the 
time, Dravet wasn’t really considered, because Allegra’s 
milestones were all normal.” 

“Then at 11 months she had a 25 minute seizure. Back 
in the ward she had another seizure which lasted 48 
minutes which couldn’t be stopped. Eventually, they had 
to take her to the Monash intensive care unit where she 
stayed for a week.”

At 22 months, Ingrid diagnosed Dravet, it was almost 
a relief to know what it was, but the diagnosis was a 
great shock. I looked on the internet for ‘Dravet’, and just 
started crying my eyes out,” says Marissa. 

Marissa and Dean are eternally grateful to the Epilepsy 
Foundation for the support they’ve received. “I was so 
surprised that no-one at the hospitals had told me to go 
to the Foundation. It was Ingrid who advised me to give 
them a ring”, says Marissa. 

“The Foundation has been amazing. Without them, I 
don’t know what I’d do. Jean arranged for midazolam 
training, and we had 14 people at our place for their 
nurse to train.”

“When we finally had the Dravet diagnosis, I rang Jean 
and asked if I could have a catch-up because I was so 
devastated. Jean was great, just so calm, and explained 
that what I’m reading are worse case scenarios. She put 
it in perspective for me.”

“Allegra is always smiling. She’s just an awesome little 
girl. She’s very happy and she knows what she wants. 
Small things make her happy like blowing bubbles and 
going for a ride on the bike. At the moment, they’re the 
simple things we just try to do with her.”
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Client Services highlights

Enhanced quality of life  
for people living with epilepsy
The Client Services team continued to meet the 
support needs of people with epilepsy and their families 
enhancing their quality of life. This was done both directly 
with individuals and families and indirectly through 
service providers and key people in community service 
organisations including disability, health, education, 
childcare and aged care service providers. 

In the 2012–13 year, we assisted more than 6,500 people, 
through our various programs, to understand and 
manage epilepsy better. 

The quality of our Client Services was externally audited 
and certified against the One DHS Standards and ISO 
9001/2008 Quality Management System without any 
non-conformance. The auditors commended our 
organisation in achieving certification the first time, 
adding that some organisations take two to three 
attempts to reach certification.

The Client Services team 
Our experienced and qualified staff have a diverse 
range of backgrounds in areas including social work, 
counselling, nursing, youth work, welfare studies, 
communication, primary and secondary education, 
health education, workplace training and assessment 
and management. 

The Client Services team increased this year with 
additional staff in Education and Training, Peer Support 
and a number of project roles following successful 
submissions. Projects included the development 
of epilepsy resources under the National Disability 
Insurance Scheme (NDIS) Practical Design Fund, further 
development and expansion of peer support with 
Victorian Government Department of Health funding, and 
addressing the epilepsy needs of people over 65 years 
with funding from The Wicking Trust. 

Regional services 
Support to people with epilepsy was provided across 
all areas of the state, within our limited funding, either 
via telephone, Skype, email or in person. We have also 
helped clients develop Epilepsy Management Plans 
and access community services, supported children 
in kindergartens and schools and assisted adults in 
their workplaces.

People from regional Victoria were supported to access 
state-wide Epilepsy Foundation services such as the 
Family Respite Weekend, the Adult Getaway, the 
Epilepsy Specialist Series and the Women’s Epilepsy 
Network Weekend. 

We continued the Bendigo Epilepsy Capacity Building 
Project to increase our regional coverage. This project 
builds the epilepsy knowledge and skills within Bendigo 
Community Health Services to have a community 
health nurse trained to deliver epilepsy and emergency 
medication training in the Bendigo area. This was 
expanded to incorporate further projects in peer support 
and the development of resources to support people, 
families and service providers under the NDIS.

Epilepsy counselling and practical support
A significant part of our individual and family work is 
epilepsy counselling and providing practical support. 
This is often through our Helpline where people have the 
opportunity to ask questions about their epilepsy and 
express their feelings about the situation in which they 
find themselves. 

Practical support includes ensuring families of children 
who are newly diagnosed are told about the Carer 
Allowance, have information on safety issues, seizure 
or medication management, and are aware of Epilepsy 
Foundation and other services. Some families contact us 
when there is a change in their child’s epilepsy and need 
an opportunity to discuss their concerns. Others have 
little, or perhaps only negative, experiences of epilepsy 
and need the opportunity to examine their beliefs and to 
adjust to their diagnosis.
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Considerable work was done with families and their 
neurologist/paediatrician to develop Epilepsy Management 
Plans for use in childcare centres, kindergartens and 
schools. This was then followed by epilepsy education 
and training of teachers and other staff to understand the 
child’s specific type of epilepsy and how this should be 
managed and supported. There have been a number of 
instances of very positive feedback received directly from 
clients, families and service providers from this work.

We continued our partnership with the Cairnmillar 
Institute to provide low-cost access to psychology 
services. Sessions were held at the Epilepsy Foundation 
offices and were serviced by an in-house provisional 
psychologist under the supervision of a registered 
psychologist. Support was provided for a variety of issues 
including anxiety, depression, grief, stress management, 
vocational issues and adjustment concerns. 

Systemic advocacy
The Epilepsy Foundation continued to lobby and 
advocate for change with politicians and government 
departments to support better outcomes for people 
living with epilepsy. A submission was made on the draft 
Victorian State Disability Plan concerning people with 
epilepsy. Five key policy areas were suggested to be 
addressed where a whole-of-government response could 
be taken. These included: 

1. Increase the understanding of human rights and 
the application of the disability education standards 
within the primary, secondary, vocational and tertiary 
education system 

2. Deliver professional development to teachers and 
staff on specialist disabilities, particularly where these 
impact on individual learning and development such 
as with epilepsy 

3. Create greater community awareness of disabilities 
that may impact on the participation of people in 
education and employment and reduce the stigma 
associated with conditions such as epilepsy

4. Actively promote the availability of transport options 
and mobility allowance to people living with a disability 
within the disability and mainstream service system

5. Explore new and innovative transport subsidies to 
support both public and private transport including the 
recouping of transport costs by families where public 
transport is not an option.

Individual advocacy was provided in a number of 
situations. Examples include advocacy on behalf of 
a person experiencing difficulties in his workplace, 
advocating on behalf of someone with epilepsy who was 
refused access to disability day services, and facilitating 
access to a local council Home & Community Care respite 
program, which had been denied because the child was 
prescribed midazolam and the agency did not have staff 
trained in medication administration.

Library 
We continued to update our library collection to 
provide current and relevant information to people 
with epilepsy, their families, staff, health professionals, 
member organisations of Epilepsy Australia and the 
wider community. The library continued to be an active 
member of the Australian Health Librarian’s Inter-library 
co-operative service, Gratisnet. Volunteer assistance 
continued throughout the year in the library. An option to 
enable the electronic storage of journal articles, including 
improved electronic access to abstracts and articles and 
making the library catalogue more accessible on the web, 
is under consideration.

Group support 
We were one of eight organisations chosen to develop 
peer support groups across Victoria, receiving a grant of 
$100,000 from the Victorian Department of Health as 
part of its Health Condition Support Grants Program. The 
project was designed to:

• support existing epilepsy self-help/peer support groups

• assess the epilepsy needs and use of peer support 
models with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
communities and Culturally and Linguistically Diverse 
communities

• develop new modes of peer support and pathways with 
health/human services

• provide peer support leader training and 

• pilot a partnership model with community health 
(Bendigo Community Health Services).

Self-help and facilitated groups are an important part of 
the support we provide in creating opportunities for people 
with epilepsy and family members to come together. 
These opportunities enable people to share experiences, 
problems and ideas about managing their epilepsy and 
create connections with other like-minded people. 
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Our support groups were very active during the year with 
a range of education, social and support events held. 
Disability Self Help Funding Grants were also made to six 
epilepsy support groups from the Department of Human 
Services. Examples of our support group activities and 
events include:

• Our Family Respite Weekend Camp held in April 2013 at 
Anglesea Recreation Camp was attended by 18 families 
(33 adults and 46 children) supported by 11 volunteers 
and three Epilepsy Foundation staff, with positive 
evaluations from attendees  

• The Epilepsy Foundation’s Geelong team provided 
support to several groups including the Geelong Adult 
Epilepsy Group, Geelong Parents Group and the Ballarat, 
Colac, Hamilton and Portland Support Groups:

– Geelong Adult Support Group attended the Victoria 
Markets, Ten Pin Bowling, Melbourne Aquarium, had 
a Christmas lunch, a trip to Sorrento on the ferry, 
and went to the movies

– Colac Support Group did an Introduction to 
Computers session, went to the Colac Botanical 
Gardens for lunch and took a trip to Birregurra

– Geelong Parent Support Group had a guest speaker 
on running a parent support group, held a morning 
tea and a Christmas lunch and organised a pamper 
day funded by Carers Victoria; a pharmacist 
presentation was also held in Geelong for a 
combined group meeting

– Ballarat Parent Support Group established an 
agreement with Ballarat North Neighbourhood 
House for the group meetings at no charge. They 
also met for lunch followed by a pamper session 
at Ballarat University, had a Christmas lunch and 
speaker from Carer Respite. A member of the 
Ballarat Parents Support Group, whose child passed 
away early in the year, attended the group for the 
first time since her daughter’s funeral. She said that 
she came as everyone there understood her and 
she could talk freely about her daughter without 
any judgement or expectations of how she should 
be coping

– The Hamilton/Portland Group met twice for lunch 
during the year

• Bendigo & Goulburn Valley Epilepsy Support Groups 
had a float in the Bendigo Easter parade to promote 
epilepsy awareness; this was a very successful day 
with the groups getting a positive response from 
the thousands of people lining the streets of the 
Bendigo CBD

• Superfits, a group of adults living with epilepsy from 
across Victoria, enjoyed attending Ten Pin Bowling and 
other events

• Women’s Epilepsy Network is a group of enthusiastic 
women from across Victoria that meets for lunch 
several times each year and holds a weekend 
conference. This year the group held six lunches at 
various locations and visited the National Gallery of 
Victoria. Two weekend conferences were held, one in 
November at Port Fairy with 15 women and the other 
in April at Queenscliff with 27 women. UCB Pharma 
staff again volunteered their time to provide hair and 
makeup sessions on the Sunday.

Education and Training
The Education and Training Team has designed the 
Epilepsy Foundation’s training packages after extensive 
consultation with organisations and people living with 
epilepsy. Training is evidence-based from current research 
and emphasises a person and family-centred approach. 

The Epilepsy Foundation provides general and specialist 
epilepsy information sessions to people living with 
epilepsy and their families through workshops, and 
epilepsy education and training to a broad range of 
professionals including:

• Disability and community care support workers, 
supervisors and assessors

• Nurses

• Aged care workers

• Workplaces

• Government agency workers

• Employment services, such as Disability Employment 
Services

• School teachers, teachers’ aids, special development 
schools, kindergartens and crèches.
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Examples of information sessions and workshops 
carried out in 2012–13:

• Epilepsy Information Workshops were delivered 
monthly to people with epilepsy (most of whom 
were newly diagnosed), family and friends at various 
locations with good attendance.

• Epilepsy Specialist Series workshops were delivered in 
partnership with health and community professionals 
who donated their time to make these sessions 
possible. Epilepsy Specialist sessions were delivered 
on Epilepsy in Children, Epilepsy Surgery and two 
Parent/Carer days. These were supported by Prof. Mark 
Cook, Dr Mark Mackay, Prof. Ingrid Schaffer, Dr Silvana 
Micallef, Dr Mark Newton, and Dr Michael Hayman.

• Emergency Medication Administration Training 
– prolonged seizure activity is increasingly being 
managed by emergency medication, with midazolam 
typically being prescribed. The delivery of education 
and training to support the administration of 
emergency medication continues to be in demand 
from families and a variety of health and community 
professionals, with the highest demand in schools and 
early childhood services. A trial using Skype for regional 
training of families took place with further investigation 
on the most effective platforms to be made.

• Epilepsy Training for Nurses – our Royal College 
of Nursing Australia and Australian Practice Nurses 
Association (APNA) accredited ‘Understanding and 
Managing Epilepsy for Nurses Professional Development 
Workshops’ were again popular this year. Many nurses 
reported that their training does not cover epilepsy in 
enough detail and attending these sessions helps them 
work with patients who have epilepsy. To address this 
issue, the Epilepsy Foundation worked with Deakin 
University and the Office of the Chief Health Officer to 
develop and deliver two lectures on Epilepsy Wellbeing 
in the School of Medicine Public Health Program of 
Deakin University. Content was developed jointly with 
Frances Ampt, Office of the Chief Health Officer and 
Dr Ross Carne.

• Understanding and Managing Epilepsy for Disability 
Workers – the Disability Sector ‘One person, One plan,’ 
standardised Epilepsy Management Plan for use across 
the disability sector, proved effective in encouraging 
disability organisations to think about how they support 
people with epilepsy and have their staff trained in 
understanding and managing epilepsy. It is anticipated 
that the release of the NDIS Practical Design Funded 
‘Epilepsy Know me, Support me’ resources will increase 
the demand for education and training. Disability 
Service Provider education and training continued 
to be offered on-site at Disability Services during 
staff induction and at residential, respite and day 
services and regional promotional workshops held in 
Camberwell and Ballarat, which proved effective. 

• Schools and Early Childhood Epilepsy Education 
– having children with epilepsy participate fully in 
the classroom or an early childhood service is a key 
objective of the Epilepsy Foundation. We saw a positive 
trend in school sector engagement, with more regional 
and secondary school teachers attending training. 
There was a large regional component this year with 
staff travelling to areas such as Nhill, Ararat, Benalla, 
Shepparton, Sale, Beechworth and Mildura.

• The Epilepsy Smart Schools initiative was launched at 
the Epilepsy Foundation Annual Dinner in November 
2012 and was received well by the audience. This 
offers a range of on-line resources that can be used 
by teachers and students to understand epilepsy and 
learn about how a whole school approach can be used 
to become an Epilepsy Smart School. The program has 
a strong focus on social inclusion and providing self-
advocacy opportunities for students in the classroom 
to speak to their class about their epilepsy. UCB Pharma 
and dedicated donors provided much-needed funding 
for the program. 

Victorian Disability Sector Health 
Management Award 2013
The Epilepsy Foundation Education and Training team’s 
work to create one standardised Epilepsy Management 
Plan for the disability sector was recognised with the 
awarding, in June 2013, of the Victoria Disability Sector 
Award for Health Management. The Awards are a joint 
initiative between National Disability Services and the 
Victorian Government Department of Human Services 
(DHS) and celebrate the achievements of individuals, 
teams, organisations and businesses assisting people 
with disabilities to achieve their personal goals.

The sector-wide group formed by the Epilepsy Foundation 
to create the Disability Sector ‘One person, One plan,’ 
included Department of Human Services Quality Division, 
Villa Maria, Melba Support Services, Scope and Yooralla. 
The plan was also adopted into DHS Accommodation 
Guidelines.
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National Disability Insurance Scheme 
(NDIS) Practical Design Fund 
‘Epilepsy Know me, Support Me’ Resources
The Epilepsy Foundation was funded $247,800 for two 
projects under the NDIS Practical Design Fund to develop 
resources that support people with a disability and 
their families to have a say about how their epilepsy is 
managed under the NDIS, and that also support disability 
service providers and staff across Australia to manage 
epilepsy better. Partnerships were formed with Bendigo 
Community Health Services, Epilepsy Australia, DHS 
Sandhurst Bendigo, Marillac House and Flinders University 
to deliver the national projects.

Practical solutions and resources were developed by 
examining current knowledge and included a suite of 
resources, which are available for download from our 
website www.epinet.org.au, and include:

• Learning about Epilepsy – an easy English guide, which 
is also available in audio file for people with vision 
impairment

• Developing an Epilepsy Management Plan for support 
workers and families – a resource to involve the 
person with a disability in the development of their 
epilepsy plan 

• My Epilepsy Medical Review – an easy English booklet 
to assist the support worker and family of the person 
in preparation for a medical appointment

• Epilepsy Management Plan templates and guidelines 
– an electronic document to help identify the 
person’s seizure types, support needs and emergency 
procedures

• Emergency Medication Management Plans – 
Midazolam or Rectal Valium – an electronic or hard 
copy document that identifies a specific emergency 
medication including dose, route and seizure type for 
administration

• Epilepsy Management in the Disability Sector: a 
resource for better practice – individuals and supporters 
can use the better practice resource to assist them in 
their decision-making to choose a service

• Education and Training for Epilepsy and Emergency 
Medication Administration for individuals and families

• Epilepsy Helpline Fridge Magnet for people with a 
disability and family members to get epilepsy support 
nationally

• DVD case study of how people with a disability and 
families can use the epilepsy self-management 
resources.

GOODBYE MOLLY
It was with a sad heart that we announced that 
Molly Clohessy, the star of our DVD aimed at 
schools passed away on Friday, 31 August 2012. 
Molly had what she would have described as a 
“big, big seizure,” which was very prolonged and 
resulted in her being induced into a coma and 
intensive care for several days. 

A number of Epilepsy Foundation staff attended 
her funeral at Kismet Park Primary School, 
Sunbury, and provided support to her family. 
Molly’s mother, Kellie, wants the Epilepsy 
Foundation to continue to use the schools DVD 
that features Molly. It was shown at her funeral 
and is a valued memory for the family. 

Molly had Dravet Syndrome and Kellie, with the 
support of a number of other families living with 
Dravet, has set up a dedicated fund with the 
Epilepsy Foundation to support families living with 
this condition. These funds will be used to help run 
the Dravet family conference and other activities.

Molly’s story can be read at: 
http://www.epinet.org.au/articles/people_with_
epilepsy/mollys_story_-_lifting_the_lid_on_
epilepsy 
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Research
Research into the psychological and social impacts of 
epilepsy remains a key priority of the Epilepsy Foundation. 

Our national Australian Epilepsy Research Register 
continues to grow in all states and territories and has a 
presence on the Epilepsy Australia website. Two research 
newsletters were produced and distributed to people on 
the register which ensures they are kept informed and 
engaged with the Epilepsy Foundation.

The Longitudinal Study into the Needs, Perceptions and 
Experiences of People with Epilepsy, which draws on the 
Research Register, continues to be the focus of research 
at the Epilepsy Foundation. Our evidence-based research 
is used to influence government policy and to advocate 
for necessary changes in health practice.

The highlight for the year was the publishing of two 
papers from the Longitudinal Study in the international 
journal, Epilepsy and Behavior:

• ‘The E-Word’ paper found that 48 percent of 
Longitudinal Study respondents reported perceptions 
of unfair treatment as a result of their epilepsy. 
Discrimination in the workplace remains of key concern, 
with 47 percent citing examples of unfair treatment. 
The paper concluded that in spite of Australian anti-
discrimination laws, findings indicated that full-time 
employment rates for people with epilepsy are lower 
than previously reported and that further action is 
required to improve education and reduce stigma.

• The Seizure-related injuries and hospitalizations 
paper found that 64 percent of respondents to the 
Longitudinal Study reported injuries requiring hospital 
treatment. The high rate of hospitalisations, largely for 
soft tissue injuries (85 percent), suggests that access 
to more appropriate care was not available. The report 
recommended further research into this and that 
awareness of injury risks is an important part of self-
management of epilepsy.

A news article was also produced by Neurology Update 
on 12 December 2012, based on the second article.

Other Longitudinal Study highlights:

• Data analysis on the Longitudinal Study was completed 
in partnership with the Chronic Illness Alliance 

• A data dictionary has been established, which means 
data from the Longitudinal Study will be available to 
other researchers

• A procedure manual has been produced, which will 
ensure consistency of approach with each survey and 
maintenance of records

• UCB has provided financial support to undertake the 
Wave 3 survey and analysis.

Staff again attended the Melbourne Brain Centre (MBC) 
Partnership Strategy Forum, which is designed to build 
closer links with consumers, organisations and MBC 
researchers. 

Tackling epilepsy in those over 65 years
We were successful in a submission to the Wicking Trust 
– ANZ Trustees and were granted $290,500 over the next 
three years to tackle epilepsy in the over 65 years age 
group. This is one of the largest populations of newly-
diagnosed people with epilepsy and one that will increase 
in number as the Australian population increases.

The project began in 2011 when the Epilepsy Foundation 
approached the Council for the Ageing, the National 
Ageing Research Institute and Benetas to partner in a 
project to address the needs and risks associated with 
epilepsy in the over 65 years age group. The aim is to 
research and develop a service model for managing 
epilepsy in aged care that supports people to stay in their 
own home and delays or eliminates the necessity for 
residential care. 
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Our volunteers
Almost without exception, volunteer candidates’ 
responses to the question, “What would you like to 
gain from this volunteer work?” includes an expression 
of wishing to help people and that is exactly what our 
volunteers do.

We acknowledge here, as we do during National 
Volunteer Week each May, the important work of our 
volunteers and thank them for their efforts. During 
2012-13, our volunteer workforce at the Surrey Hills office 
doubled. Each volunteer commenced their new role with:

• A well-structured recruitment process

• A position description

• A formal role and induction to Occupational Health  
and Safety

• A direct reporting line to a specific manager.

Away from the office, our Op Shops would be unable 
to operate without our large and dedicated volunteer 
workforce (see Volunteer Award recipients list). The 
Family Respite Camp, WEN Retreat, Adult Getaway, 
day trips and weekend information sessions would not 
receive such positive feedback without those volunteers 
who work with our families, adults and others who 
receive direct support at these events.

In 2012–13, the Epilepsy Foundation entered into a 
partnership agreement with Swinburne University’s 
Student Leadership and Volunteer Program. This 
partnership has succeeded well beyond expectations and 
it is a pleasure to meet and work with so many younger, 
highly skilled people who are generous with their time 
and truly interested in community engagement.

VOLUNTEER AWARDS 2012
5 YEARS
Margaret Rodgers (Cranbourne)
Patricia Thompson (Cranbourne)
Iva James (Cranbourne)
Gaye Pitts (Parkdale) 
Edwina Wilson (Parkdale)
Jane Alter (Blackburn)
Carmella La Sala (Blackburn)
Michael La Sala (Blackburn)
Doreen Gunn (East Kew)

10 YEARS
Lorraine Stanbridge (Cranbourne)
Wendy Hancock (Parkdale)
Beverly Walker (Parkdale)
Carol Miller (East Kew)
Beryl Windsor (East Kew)

Trusts and Foundations
The support of all our donors, both big and small, gives 
the Epilepsy Foundation the ability to not only undertake 
its regular services, but to take on special projects. Each 
year, we submit funding applications for various projects 
to charitable foundations and trusts and, this year, we 
received support from the following:

• Bell Charitable Trust

• Freemasons Public Charitable Foundation

• The Marian & EH Flack Trust

• Give Where you Live 

• Peirce Armstrong Foundation

• Aged Person Welfare Foundation

• JO & JR Wicking Trust-ANZ Trustees
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Overview
Our reliance on non-government income brings with it 
the challenge of maintaining sustainable income levels. 
Competition within the not-for-profit sector has increased 
as more and more organisations step-up their fundraising 
activities. It is imperative for us to grow and retain the 
philanthropic support of existing donors and supporters 
to maintain and grow our services.

Strategically, we continued to build our Total 
Development Program (TDP). The TDP uses multiple 
fundraising programs to reduce our risk against 
a downturn in any one area. The TDP allows for 
multiple touch points for supporters, increasing their 
‘connectedness’ to the Foundation and allowing them to 
engage with us in as many ways as possible.

Underpinning the TDP is our philosophy on how we relate 
to the people who want to support us, by giving them 
Choice, Information, Involvement and Commitment:

• Choice – giving supporters the opportunity to support 
us in the way that best suits them

• Information – providing information about what we do 
in a way that makes it understandable and relevant to 
our supporters

• Involvement – finding ways for our supporters to be 
engaged in our work in deeper and more meaningful 
ways than just giving money

• Commitment – finding better ways to build long term 
commitment from our supporters.

Fundraising highlights
• Purple Day for Epilepsy fundraising grew from 

$48,100 to $75,033

• Epilepsy Ambassador, Jeff ‘Joffa’ Corfe, was the joint 
winner of the Volunteer of the Year at the Fundraising 
Institute Australia Awards for Excellence in Fundraising

• Bequest income grew from $122,738 to $162,315

• In Memory donations increased from $8,198 to $26,082

• Op Shop income grew from $573,924 to $689,748.

Fundraising challenges
• Our appeals program suffered a decline in overall 

support with a 6 percent decrease in funds raised; 
equally concerning was the decrease of 8.5 percent 
in the number of donors

• Substantial drops in acquisition rates, and the higher 
costs associated with it, meant we had limited 
acquisition for our raffle. As raffles suffer an attrition 
rate of about 10 percent per annum, maintaining the 
viability of the program is of concern.

Communication highlights
The Epilepsy Foundation uses a range of communication 
tools to support and inform clients, the public, health 
care providers and stakeholders about our programs and 
services. This includes our website, brochures, mailouts, 
newsletters, quick reference guides and fact sheets. We 
ensure that we are responsive, open and transparent, 
and produce high-quality information products through 
a range of print and other media.  

• UCB Pharma funded a national media campaign 
through VIVA Communications. The Epilepsy 
Foundation’s research on Unfair Treatment was used 
as the cornerstone of the national campaign. UCB 
reports that media activity generated by VIVA reached 
15,883,452 Australians

• In Victoria, we focused on local media and established 
Victorian contacts. Local print had mixed results around 
a combination of the Unfair Treatment research and 
Purple Day activities

• The launch of the Unfair Treatment research on 25 March 
by Josh Frydenberg was well-attended by clients and 
supporters, gave a focus for Purple Day, introduced 
our new premises and extended engagement with 
research participants, clients and supporters

• Social media saw increased activity around the 
‘26 Days 26 Ways’ campaign, driving increased traffic 
to our website and recruiting new fans, friends and 
followers.

Fundraising and communications

We encounter many acts of generosity over any given year and 
we could never recount them all even though we would like to. 
Thank you to all who have helped in some way.  
You are all making a difference.
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Major Appeals
‘People giving to people’ is at the heart of all philanthropy. The generosity of our donors and supporters is matched by 
the courage of our clients as they give us access to their lives and those of their families. As much as possible, we seek 
to include as many stories as we can about our clients to show every supporter the challenges they face, what we 
think needs to be done and the things that we have done to change their lives.

Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria 587 Canterbury Road Surrey Hills VIC 3127  phone  (03) 8809 0600 
fax (03) 9836 2124  web www.epinet.org.au  abn 75 967 571 784  national help line 1300 862 853

Help us support Victorians  
living with epilepsy
With your financial support we can make a real difference in people’s lives. Here are 
just some of the ways we contribute every day. We hope you will get involved, in any 
way you can, so we can continue to help people and families living with epilepsy.

Little Nyah experienced her first seizure 
when she was only 10 weeks old
“One morning when I was feeding her, I thought she didn’t look very well. I knew 
instinctively there was something wrong,” says Kylie. “She was slow to react, her 
eyes were going to the right a lot and then she was very limp – she didn’t have 
much movement at all. When I was feeding her about 5pm that evening, she had a 
grand mal (tonic clonic) seizure. That first seizure went for seven minutes.” 
Nyah was rushed to hospital where the seizures continued. She was in hospital for 
four days while medical staff tried to control the seizures. 
Midazolam is a short acting drug used for the emergency treatment of seizures. 
It would normally be administered by paramedics. But in an emergency, family 
members can also administer it – but only after they have received specific training 
to do so. We provide this excellent training service, at no cost to families.
“Once Rod and our families had the training it took a lot of the pressure off. What we 
didn’t want was to have Nyah totally reliant on us. Now she goes to swimming every 
Friday, and spends Wednesdays with either of her grandparents. If the Foundation’s 
training hadn’t been available, I don’t know what I would have done.”

“If the Foundation’s training hadn’t 
been available, I don’t know what 

I would have done.”

The Walker family face so many challenges
Four out of five members of the Walker family have epilepsy – the three children, 
Cassandra, Daniel and Ronan, and Darrell their dad. Christine Walker doesn’t have 
epilepsy, but she knows how severely epilepsy affects the lives of her husband and 
precious children. Ronan has intellectual and physical developmental delay as well 
as epilepsy – so every single milestone in his life is a precious gift.
Your support means that families like the Walkers have the opportunity once a year 
to share a special weekend at a camp with other families who experience epilepsy.  
It is the only time that Christine can relax knowing that other families will not be 
troubled if one of her family members has a seizure during the camp.
The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria help families like the Walkers with:
• telephone counselling
• counselling support to any member of a family affected by epilepsy
• epilepsy first aid awareness can be spread throughout the family’s community
• support in regional areas
• a school education officer who visits schools to explain to students and staff how 

and why epilepsy happens, and what to do when it does
• recreational programs, like our camps, which are available for children and young 

people experiencing epilepsy

When the family attend one of our 
epilepsy camps, it is the only time 

that Christine can relax.

“If the Foundation’s 
training hadn’t been 

available, I don’t know 
what I would have done.”

2013 TAX APPEAL

Epilepsy came ‘out of the blue’ for Natalie 
and Mark. It has had an impact not just on 
Jordan, but also on all of them individually 

and as a family. Their experience with 
epilepsy is mirrored in thousands of families 
across Victoria every day; many of them rely 
on the Epilepsy Foundation for its support.

“… he is cheeky, funny and kind natured, and he loves going to school.”

Your gift, whatever you can afford, will enable us to 
provide practical assistance and long-term support to 
adults and children living with the many unpredictable 
and life-threatening challenges of epilepsy. With your 
help we can do so much more. 

Children with MAE often experience difficulties 

to control seizures that have no known cause.

Natalie is full of praise for Jackson and his 

willingness to take on a level of responsibility far 

beyond his age, when Jordan experiences seizures.

Natalie finds it hard to talk without emotion about 

the first twelve months when Jordan’s seizures 

were uncontrolled. “When I look back on that time, 

I don’t know how we coped.”

Thank you for your support

Your donation to our Christmas 
Appeal is urgently needed to 
assist families who live with the 
reality of epilepsy every day. 

Your gift, whatever you can 
afford, will enable us to 
provide practical assistance 
and long-term support to 
adults and children living with 
the many unpredictable and 
life-threatening challenges of 
epilepsy. With your help we 
can do so much more. 

2012 CHRISTMAS APPEAL – JORDAN

Epilepsy came ‘out of the 
blue’ for Natalie and Mark. It 
has had an impact not just on 
Jordan, but also on all of them 
individually and as a family. 
Their experience with epilepsy 
is mirrored in thousands of 
families across Victoria every 
day; many of them rely on the 
Epilepsy Foundation for its 
support.

When the family attend 
one of our epilepsy 

camps, it is the only time 
that Christine can relax.
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CHARITABLE STATUS, TAX CONCESSIONS AND FUNDRAISING
Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Inc. ABN 75 967 571 784 is an incorporated association. Reg. No. A0022674D.
Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria is a Public Benevolent Institution (PBI). It is endorsed as an Income Tax Exempt Charity (ITEC) and 
enjoys certain other tax concessions and exemptions consistent with its status as a PBI which relate to Goods and Services and Fringe 
Benefits taxes. 
Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria has been endorsed by the Australian Taxation Office as a Deductible Gift Recipient (DGR).
Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria is registered with Consumer Affairs Victoria as required by law to raise funds – Reg. No. 12287 (expires 
7/01/2016).  
Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria is a declared charitable organisation for minor gaming purposes with The Victorian Commission for 
Gambling Regulation – Reg. No. 40315.
The Epilepsy Foundation and our fundraising staff are members of the Fundraising Institute Australia (FIA) and subscribe to the FIA 
Codes of Professional Fundraising Practice.

It had been a long time coming … we sold our 
Camberwell home and then in December 2012 moved 
to our new home in Surrey Hills. The new building is 
a great step forward and was officially opened by 
The Hon. Ted Baillieu on 31 May 2013. 

Our old building had real problems, mounting 
maintenance costs and a less than ideal working 
environment for staff and clients. In 2006, the Board 
initiated a property review with the aim being to harness 
the inherent value of what was a wonderful site and to 
build a better home for people living with epilepsy. A 
discussion document was circulated and we took advice 
from a number of parties, including developers, architects 
and clients. The suggestions we received came down to 
four options: 

1. Do nothing

2. Redevelop the site ourselves

3. Sell to a developer and have a home built for us as 
part of the redevelopment

4. Sell and purchase a new home that best suited 
our needs. 

Much time was given to discussing the options and to 
how they honoured the commitment of the families 
who set up the Epilepsy Foundation. With a lack of any 
funds to redevelop, the boom in residential prices meant 
the best option was to sell and purchase a dedicated 
commercial building that could be our home for the next 
30 plus years. 

The Epilepsy Foundation was set up as the Victorian 
Bureau for Epilepsy in May 1964 after the demise of The 
Talbot Colony for Epileptics (now Monash University). The 
families involved believed that the medical profession 
and the state government had been instrumental in their 
exclusion from the new Royal Talbot facility at Kew. 

One of the key tenets of the new organisation in 1964 
was that funds would be raised so that a new permanent 
home could be purchased. Once achieved, the Epilepsy 
Foundation would then exist so that people living with 
epilepsy would always have a home, no matter what. 
After renting an office in the old Gas & Fuel Corporation, 
then a terrace house in East Melbourne and a short stint 
in the city, the Camberwell property became that home 
in 1975.

On 2 December 2012, 130 people met at our Camberwell 
premises to say ‘farewell’ and to acknowledge the work, 
generosity and trust of thousands of people who have 
come to the Foundation seeking support, information 
and services over the past 38 years. 

Our new home 
587 Canterbury Road, Surrey Hills, Victoria, 3127
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Honour roll 2012–13
$100,000 +
Estate of Francis John Goldberg
Estate of Joseph Lewis Welsh
JO & JR Wicking Trust

$20,000 – $99,999
Aged Persons Welfare Foundation

$10,000 – $19,999
Sheen Panel Service Vic Pty Ltd
Mrs Marie Davis
Ms H Fraser
Joe White Bequest
Bell Charitable Fund
Ms Nan Brown
Anonymous

$5,000 – $9,999
The Anne Maree & Bernard Myles Quinn 

Memorial Trust Fund
The Amelia Eliza Holland Trust
Estate of Ellen Hutton Mary Cummins
The Marian & E H Flack Trust
Pierce Armstrong Trust
Give Where You Live
Mr Graeme Shears

$2,000 – $4,999
Mr Louis Morsch
Mr & Mrs Darrell & Tracey Bush
Freemasons Public Charitable 

Foundation
Mrs Rosemary Southgate
Anonymous
The Alfred & Jean Dickson Foundation
Mr & Mrs M & S Edwards
Mrs June Smith
Himax Investments Pty Ltd
Mrs Phyllis Breen
Consolidated Chemical Co.
Apple Marketing Group Pty Ltd
Estate of Florence May Heasley
Mr Donald Beaurepaire
Mrs R M Andre
Mr C D Turnbull

$1,000 – $1,999
Mr & Mrs R W & B L Squire
Mr Mark Dewar
Mr Trevor O’Connell
Mrs Gloria Way
Mr Tom Connelly
Ms Kate Marshall
Mr Stephen Edwards
CitiPower Pty Ltd

Ms Elizabeth Russell
Mr Greg Shalit
Ritchies Stores
Mr Howard W Paul
Mrs Sharon King
Mrs Jennifer Jenkin
Prof. Mark Cook
Ms Debby Cain
Mrs Patricia Lightfoot
Mr P Hansen
Mrs Betsy Harrington
Mr Ian Jones
Mr Greg Howell
Dr Kevin Walsh
Mr Scott Hartley
Mr Sam Miller
Lexi-Daisy Children’s Charity Inc
Mr Terry Williamson
Mrs Lena Watson
Mr Richard J Stanley QC
Dr James Lewis
Mr Len Tenace
Mr Mike Aquilina
Mrs M O’Sullevan
Mrs Marie Warnock
Miss N O’Sullevan
Mrs Susan Spence
Mr Edward J Miller
Mrs Joan O A Gibbs
Mr John Gilmour
Mrs Diane Collins
Mr Mark Pryn
Nilsen (Vic) Pty Ltd
Mr Peter Briese
Mrs Judith Roach
Mr John Beaurepaire
Mr Ian C Curry
Mrs Diana M Lowe
Ms Catherine Price
Dr Bruce Verity
Mrs D Richards
Blue Label Pty Ltd
Ms Cathy Almond
Ms Emma Tamassy
Mr Steven Williams
Estate of Elsie Victoria Lange

$500 – $999
Mr Leo Lazarus
Australian Merino Exports
Mr Chris Riches
Mrs Marion Sheehan
Mr Leonard Tenace
Laurimar Primary School

Mrs Nancy Austin
Mrs K Edwards
Miss Patricia  M Holmes
Mr William Abbott
Mrs Marion Beetham
Mrs Rose-Mary Cassin
Mr J C Ellson
Mrs Meredith Evans
Mr Geoffrey Maddern
Mr Milton Lasnitzki
McKinnon Secondary College
Mr John MacMillan
Mr T Campbell Johnston
Mr John Hardie
Mr Peter Price
Mr John Sproats
Mr Edward Haldane
Mr John Mason
Mr Graeme S Thomson
Mr Paul Zaparas
Mrs Norma Minney
Mr Peter Daniel
Mrs Yvonne Hinds
Mr & Mrs Colin & Susan Harvey
Ms Delphine Winton
Mrs Rhona Morgan
Mr Daryl Read
Mr & Mrs I A & L J Fillis
Mr & Mrs S & A Moorhouse
Prof. & Assoc Prof. Brian & Renate Howe
Sentdale Pty Ltd
Dr Nigel Rendell
Mrs Athole Langdon
Mrs May Khong
Mrs Sylvia Hammond
Mr Jason May
Powercor Australia Ltd
Mr Martin Gawler
Mr M Agha
Mr Ken Stock
Ms Alexandra Stewart
Mrs A C Rado
Mrs Patrice Scales
Mr S O’Connell
Mr & Mrs David & Bridget Crisp
Mr Graham Holmes
Mrs Enid Downing
Mrs Lesley McMullin
Mrs Kathryn Thaniel
Mrs Betty Towie
Mrs Pam Mould
Mr Geoff Blunt
Mrs Mary Anton
Mrs Victoria Funnell
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Honour roll 2012–13
Mr Peter Mason
Mr James Jelbart
Mr John Furmedge
Mr Nicholas Hall
Mr Darrell Jones
Mrs Corinne Collins
Mr David Poulton
Mrs Judy Maddigan
Mr Adrian Turley
Mr P Marshall
Ms Linda J Barbour
Mr Paul Ferronato
Mr John Colosimo
Mr Andrew Massie
Mr Colin G Barraclough
Mr Jeff Edwards
Girton Grammar Junior School
Mr P Scott
Mr J Maxwell
Mr & Mrs Barry & Liz Charleson
Mr Bruce Knowles
Mrs Claire Penniceard
Mr & Mrs Mark & Lorraine Delahunty
Mr Andrew Miller
Mr Neil T Spitzer
Mrs Krysti Fama
Mrs Heather Greenwood
Mr David Ebert
Mr Nicholas Marston
Corowa High School
Mr Mark Grave
Mr Mark Gandur
Mr Mark A Brogden
Mr Harry Wilson
Myung Jin Kim
Mr Antonius Mario Setiawan
Mr B J Lewis
Mrs Meredith Rogers
Crown Melbourne
Mr Nigel Peck AM
Mr Claude Ullin

Mrs Lyn Williams
Mrs Marion M Harper
Mrs Adrienne Basser
Ms Heather Sandford
Mrs Josephine Turner
Mr Peter Demaine
Mr & Mrs Ian & Gail McKay
Dr Maurice Lichter
Dr Melvin Goh
Mr Pieter Bruinstroop
Mr Denis O’Hara
Mrs J Barrow
S P McLean Engineering Pty Ltd
Magistrates Court of Victoria – 

Ringwood
Mrs F Pinney
Mr Mark James
Mrs Nancy Sturgess
Mr John Selak
Miss Catherine Coghlan
Mr M J Tozer
Mrs Roberta L Holmes
Ms Margaret Saunders
Mrs Maureen L Crawford
Mr Francis Shelton
Mr John Shalit
Mr Dietmar Werner
Mrs Elizabeth Steven
Mr Stephen Bryce
Mrs L M Mason
Mr Peter Bain
Mr Jason Wagner
Mrs Faye Roscoe
Mr Greg Kerr
Mrs Audrey Young
Mr Jack Ginnane
Mr S Franzi
Lions Club of Paynesville
Mr Peter Foster
Mr Shane Oswin
Mrs Jenny Musgrave
United Medical Centres

Ackowledgment of  
Contra Support
Print Impressions Pty Ltd
Apple Marketing Group
John Trevorrow & Cycling Events
Bicycle Superstore
Martin Stone
Don Sitlington
Dennis J Clark
K&L Gates
Brian Dodge
Gab Aghion
Colin Beanland
Deco Air Conditioning
Bill Dunkinson
Melbourne Storm RLC
UCB Pharma
Calder Park Raceway
Jayco
Santini
Judith Cahill & ActionPactPix
Total Care Asphalting Pty Ltd
Purple Day fundraisers & their 

supporters
Ride4Epilepsy participants, fundraisers 

& their supporters

Thank you to our Epilepsy 
Ambassadors
Jeff ‘Joffa’ Corfe
Matt Duffie
Marion Clignet
Alice Macmillan
Epilepsy Foundation Patrons Council
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Financial
accounts

2012–13
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EPILEPSY FOUNDATION OF VICTORIA INCORPORATED

EPILEPSY FOUNDATION OF VICTORIA INCORPORATED

Incorporated in Victoria as an Incorporated Association

Registered No. A00022674D

ABN 75 967 571 784

FINANCIAL REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013
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EPILEPSY FOUNDATION OF VICTORIA INCORPORATED

BOARD’S REPORT

The Board of the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated submits the Financial Statements on the incorporated 
association for the financial year ended 30 June 2013.

BOARD MEMBERS
The following persons were Board Members during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of this report are, 
unless otherwise stated:

Board

Date Appointed Date of Cessation A B

Prof. Mark Cook (Chair) 7 5

Dr Christine Walker 7 6

Mrs Jacqueline Branston November 2012 2 1

Mr Peter Gover July 2012 7 7

Dr Lindsay Vowels 7 3

Ms Sally Genser 7 4

Mr Jim Campbell 7 7

Ms Corinne Young November 2012 5 5

Ms Victoria Funnell September 2013 7 6

Ms Kate Marshall 7 6

Mr Joseph Azoulay September 2013 0 0
       
A Number of Meetings Eligible during the year
B Number of Meetings Attended       

CORPORATE INFORMATION
The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated is an incorporated association, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 

The registered office of the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated is located at 587 Canterbury Road Surrey Hills 
Vic 3127.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated during the financial year were to enhance 
the quality of life of people living with epilepsy through information, education, advocacy, support services and research.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES
No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the year.

OPERATING RESULT
The loss from ordinary activities for the year amounted to $40,821 (2012: Loss from ordinary activities of $99,467).

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
The auditor’s independence declaration has been received for the year ended 30 June 2013 and can be found on 
page 39 of this Financial Report.
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EPILEPSY FOUNDATION OF VICTORIA INCORPORATED

Finance Audit &  
Risk Management Research

A B A B

Sub-committee Members
Dr Christine Walker1 6 5 2 2

Mrs Jacqueline Branston  – –  2 1

Dr Lindsay Vowels – – 2 1

Mr Jim Campbell2 6 6 –  – 

Mr Peter Gover3 6 6 – –  

Ms Victoria Funnell 6 3 – – 

Mr Joseph Azoulay (Joined April 2013) 2 2

Meeting Attendees
Mr Graeme Shears (Staff) 6 6 2 2

Mr Jeremy Maxwell (Staff) 5 5 –  –

Ms Helen Fraser (Staff) 5 5  –  –

Mr Wayne Pfeiffer (Staff) 5 5 2 2

Mr Jason Rajit (Staff) 6 6  – –

Dr Kevin Brown (External Researcher) – – 2 1

Ms Pauline Brockett (Staff) – – 2 2

A - Number of Meetings Eligible         
B - Number of Meetings Attended     
1 Chair of Research Sub-Committee        
2 Chair of Finance Audit and Risk Management Sub-committee from July 2012 to November 2012
3 Chair of Finance Audit and Risk Management Sub-committee from November 2012

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board for and on behalf of the Board by:

  

SUB-COMMITEEE MEMBERSHIP AND MEETING ATTENDANCE

PROFESSOR MARK COOK – CHAIRMAN MR PETER GOVER – TREASURER

Dated at Melbourne, Victoria: 14 October 2013
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EPILEPSY FOUNDATION OF VICTORIA INCORPORATED

BOARD AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DECLARATION

In the opinion of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer, the Financial Report, comprising the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows 
and Notes to the Financial Statements:

1. Present a true and fair view of the financial position of the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated as at 
30 June 2013 and its performance for the year ended on the date; and

2. At the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria 
Incorporated will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

3. In addition, we are not aware at the date of signing this statement of any circumstances which would render 
any particulars included in the Financial Report to be misleading or inaccurate.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board and is signed by:

PROFESSOR MARK COOK  
– CHAIRMAN

Dated at Melbourne, Victoria: 14th October 2013

MR PETER GOVER  
– TREASURER

MR GRAEME SHEARS  
– CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFICER
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The statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
For the year ended 30 June 2013

  2013 2012 
 Note $ $
REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
Fundraising   
Donations 2 1,622,179 1,681,620 
Non Deductible Gifts 3 27,739 19,605 
Contributions 4 736,679 875,669 
Trading 5 686,207 581,924 
Government Grants  1,261,432 1,033,744 
Interest Income  83,292 481 
Service Fees / Education & Training  159,496 196,989 
Sundry Income  180,157 121,045 
Trading Income 6 17,484 72,392 
Total Revenue from Continuing Operations  4,774,665  4,583,469 

Administration Expenses 7 662,504 633,343 
Conference and Travel Expenses  30,754 32,432 
Depreciation  222,144 140,919 
Direct Raffle Expenses  461,817 480,327 
Direct Fundraising Expenses  152,554 177,975 
Direct Op Shop Expenses  94,791 68,132 
Interest Expense  – 50,661 
Profit / (Loss) on Sale of Fixed Assets  948 102 
Motor Vehicle Expenses  112,973 106,852 
Personnel Expenses 8 2,690,822 2,691,474 
Property Expenses 9 371,483 280,719 
Epilepsy Australia Contributions  14,696 20,000 
Total Expenditure from Continuing Operations  4,815,486  4,682,936

Net Surplus / (Deficit) for the Year  (40,821) (99,467)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Transfer from Capital Reserves  – 160,580 
Net Gain from Disposal of Property  –   4,571,707 
Total Other Comprehensive Income for the Year  –   4,732,287
 
Total Comprehensive Income/(Deficit) for the Year  (40,821) 4,632,820
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 30 June 2013

  2013 2012 
 Note $ $
ASSETS 
Current Assets
Cash & Cash Equivalents 14 1,433,280  318,428 
Trade & Other Receivables 10 94,667  197,102 
Property Held for Sale 21 –   6,550,000 
Total Current Assets  1,527,947  7,065,530 
    
Non-Current Assets
Property, Plant & Equipment 11 4,941,368 369,639 
Total Non-Current Assets  4,941,368  369,639 
    
Total Assets  6,469,315  7,435,169 
 
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Trade Creditors and Accruals 12 280,814  839,986 
Interest Bearing Loans 13 –   (8,759)
Revenue Received in Advance   310,075 53,921
Employee Entitlements 15 438,117  403,068
Total Current Liabilities  1,029,006  1,288,216 

Non Current Liabilities
Employee Entitlements 15 69,033  -  
Interest Bearing Loans 13  -   734,856 
Total Non Current Liabilities  69,033  734,856 
    
Total Liabilities  1,098,039  2,023,072 
 
Net Assets  5,371,276  5,412,097 

FUNDS
Capital Reserves  – –  
Asset Revalution Reserve  –  –
Accumulated Surplus  5,371,276  5,412,097 

Total Funds  5,371,276  5,412,097

The statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes
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The statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS 
For the year ended 30 June 2013

  Asset  
 Capital Revaluation Accumulated 
 Reserves Reserve Surplus

Balance at 1 July 2011 160,580 4,349,807 799,277
Transfer to Accumulated Surplus (160,580)  160,580
Disposal of Land & Building  (4,349,807) 4,571,707
Net Surplus / (Defecit) for the year   (99,467) 

Balance at 30 June 2012 – – 5,412,097
Net Surplus / (Defecit) for the year – – (40,821) 

Balance at 30 June 2013 – – 5,371,276
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 30 June 2013

  2013 2012 
 Note $ $
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
Receipts from:
Public/customers  3,803,912  3,513,364 
Governement Grant  1,251,092  977,988 
Payments to Suppliers and Employees  (4,397,526) (4,670,134)
Net Cash flows from operating activities 14 657,478 (178,782)
   
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Proceeds from Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment  6,019,756 647,285 
Interest Received  83,292 481 
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment  (4,919,577) (110,344)
Net Cash Flows from investing activities  1,183,471 537,422

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Draw Down / (Repayment) of Borrowings  (734,856) (209,997)
Interest Paid  – (50,661)
Net Cash Flows from financing activities  (734,856) (260,658)

Net increase(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  1,106.093 97,981
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  327,187 229,206
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 14 1,433,280 327,187

The statement is to be read in conjunction with the attached notes
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial report is a Tier 2 general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 (Vic), Australian Accounting Standards and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The financial report also complies with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The 
financial report has also been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for land and buildings, which have been 
measured at fair value.

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest dollar. 

The preparation of the Financial Report requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated’s 
accounting policies.

The accounting policies adopted in preparing the Financial Statements are consistent with those of previous years, 
except where otherwise stated. Prior year figures have been adjusted, where appropriate, to ensure consistency with 
current year figures.

1.1 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in the current period and have 
affected the amounts reported in these financial statements. 

Standards affecting presentation and disclosure

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements AASB 101 provides the basis for presentation of general 
purpose financial statements to ensure comparability both 
with the entity’s financial statements of previous periods 
and with the financial statements of other entities. It sets 
out overall requirements for the presentation of financial 
statements, guidelines for their structure and minimum 
requirements for their content. The current year is the 
first year in which the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria 
Incorporated has presented general purpose financial 
statements. This given rise to some changes to disclosure in 
the financial statements. 

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting 
Standards and AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements

AASB 1053 establishes a differential financial reporting 
framework consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements 
for general purpose financial statements, comprising Tier 
1 Australian Accounting Standards and Tier 2: Australian 
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
(RDR). AASB 2010-2 makes amendments to each Standard 
and Interpretation indicating the disclosures not required 
to be made by ‘Tier 2’ entities or inserting ‘RDR’ paragraphs 
requiring simplified disclosures for ‘Tier 2’ entities. The 
adoption of these standards has resulted in significantly 
reduced disclosures, largely in respect of related parties and 
financial instruments.

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria 
Incorporated in the preparation of the Financial Report.
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1.2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation, unless otherwise stated. It is 
the policy of the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated to have an independent valuation of land and buildings 
when this is determined by the Board to be materially different to the stated value. The carrying amount of property, 
plant and equipment is reviewed annually by the members of the Board to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable 
amount from those assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows which 
will be received from the assets’ employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have not been 
discounted to present values in determining recoverable amounts.

Non-current assets (items over $1,000) are capitalised and depreciated to write off the cost or revalued amount of 
each item of plant and equipment, over its expected useful life to the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated.

Depreciation methods and rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

Method Rate

Furniture & Equipment Straight Line 20%

Computer Equipment Straight Line 33%

Motor Vehicles Straight Line 20%

Leasehold Improvement Straight Line 7–20%

Building Straight Line 2%

Depreciation methods and rates of all non-current assets are reviewed on an annual basis. There was no change in the 
methodology used and rates for the 2013 financial year.

1.3 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The calculation of employee entitlements includes all relevant on-costs and employee entitlements are calculated as 
follows at reporting date.

1.3.1 WAGES AND SALARIES, ANNUAL LEAVE AND SICK LEAVE
Liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave are recognised, and are measured as the amount unpaid at current 
pay rates in respect of employees’ services up to that date. Sick leave is non-vesting and a liability is recognised only 
when the amount of sick leave expected to be taken in future periods exceeds the entitlements expected to accrue in 
those periods.

1.3.2 LONG SERVICE LEAVE
A liability for long service leave is recognised and is measured as the present value of expected future payments 
(including on-costs) to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is 
given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service.

Expected future payments are discounted using interest rates of national government guaranteed securities with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash flows. The nominal amount of long 
service leave expected to be paid in the next financial year is included as a current liability.

1.3.3 SUPERANNUATION
Superannuation Guarantee Levy amounts are paid on behalf of eligible employees. The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria 
Incorporated have no other commitments with respect to staff retirement benefits. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the year ended 30 June 2013
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1.4  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables, which comprise amounts due from sales of merchandise and from services provided are recognized 
and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. Normal terms of settlement 
vary from seven to 30 days. The carrying amount of the receivable is deemed to reflect fair value. 

An allowance for doubtful debts is made based on a review of all outstanding amounts at reporting date. Bad debts 
are written off in the period in which they are identified.

1.5 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash on hand and in banks and short-term deposits are stated at nominal value. For the purpose of the Cash Flow 
Statement, cash includes cash on hand and cash equivalents, i.e. highly liquid investments with short periods to 
maturity, which are readily convertible to cash on hand at the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated’s option. 
Outstanding bank overdrafts when they arise are categorised as current liabilities.

1.6 GOODS AND SERVICES TAX
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (GST), except, where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Taxation Authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of an asset or as part of an item of expense. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Taxation 
Authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the Balance Sheet. The GST component of a receipt or 
payment is recognised on a gross basis in the Statement of Cash Flows in accordance with Accounting Standard AAS 
28 Statement of Cash Flows.

1.7 REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is 
recognised:

(a) Grant income is brought to account when the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated obtains control of the 
funds which is normally when the Consolidated Entity receives the contribution or the right to receive the income. 
Where a repayment obligation exists with respect of unspent grant funds, grant income will be recognised in 
proportion to the related costs.

(b) Bequests, donations and trading revenue are recognised as revenue on receipt or delivery.

(c) Membership fees and other income are recognised as revenue upon the rendering of an invoice. 

(d) Interest and rent is brought to account on a time proportionate basis.

(e) No amounts are included in the financial statements for services donated by volunteers, or donated goods

1.8 TAX
The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated, as a registered charitable organization, is exempt from income tax 
under Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

1.9 LEASES
Leases of plant and equipment where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, 
but not the legal ownership, are transferred in the Association are classified as finance leases.

Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair value 
of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values. 
Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period.

Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease term.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the year ended 30 June 2013
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Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are charged 
as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight-line basis over the life 
of the lease term.

1.10 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)  Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments, incorporating financial assets and financial liabilities, are recognised when the entity becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Trade date accounting is adopted for financial assets that are 
delivered within timeframes established by marketplace convention.

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transactions costs where the instrument is not classified 
as at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction costs related to instruments classified as at fair value through profit or 
loss are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Financial instruments are classified and measured as set out below.

Effective interest rate method
The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest rate basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified 
as at fair value through profit or loss.

(b)  Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified as at fair value through profit or loss when they are held for trading for the purpose 
of short term profit taking, where they are derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or where they are designated 
as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a group of financial assets is 
managed by key management personnel on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or 
investment strategy. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are included in profit or 
loss in the period in which they arise.

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market and are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Held-to-maturity investments 
These investments have fixed maturities, and it is the Association’s intention to hold these investments to maturity. 
Held-to-maturity investments held by the Association are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method.

Available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated as such or that are 
not classified in any of the other categories. They comprise investments in the equity of other entities where there is 
neither a fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable payments. They are held at fair value with changes in fair value taken 
through the financial assets reserve directly to other comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities 
Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method.  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the year ended 30 June 2013
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the year ended 30 June 2013

(c)  Fair value 

Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are applied to 
determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length transactions, reference to similar 
instruments and option pricing models.

(d)  Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date, the Association assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial instrument has 
been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a significant or prolonged decline in the value 
of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment has arisen. Impairment losses are recognised in 
profit or loss.

The carrying amount of financial assets including uncollectible trade receivables is reduced by the impairment loss 
through the use of a provision for impairment account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited against the provision for impairment account. Changes in the carrying amount of the provision for impairment 
are recognised in profit or loss.

With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, 
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the 
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised.

In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, any subsequent increase in fair value after an impairment loss is 
recognised directly in the financial assets reserve in other comprehensive income.

(e)  Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset is transferred 
to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the risks and benefits 
associated with the asset.

Financial liabilities are derecognized where the related obligations are either discharged, cancelled or expire. The 
difference between the carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair 
value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

1.11 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The board members evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial statements based on historical 
knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and 
are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Association. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the year ended 30 June 2013

  2013 2012 
  $ $

NOTE 2: DONATIONS
Appeals  440,193 459,705
Bequests  162,315 122,738
Community Groups  17,136 22,510
Doorknock  626,578 675,221
General  215,741 170,701
In Memoriam  26,082 8,198
On-line Portal  71,958 70,351
Raffle  44,797 63,241
Trusts and Restricted Donations  17,379 88,955
  1,622,179 1,681,620

NOTE 3: NON-DEDUCTIBLE GIFTS
Trivia Challenge  – 19,605
Community Fundraising  27,739 –
  27,739 19,605

NOTE 4: FUNDRAISING CONTRIBUTIONS
Events  21,235 26,186
Membership   5,696 5,845
Raffles  689,748 819,320
Sponsorship  20,000 24,318
  736,679 875,669
Less Allocated Costs  (615,809) (671,126)
Gross Surplus from Fundraising Contributions  120,870 204,543

NOTE 5: FUNDRAISING TRADING 
Clothing Bins  – 8,000
Opportunity Shops  686,207 573,924
  686,207 581,924
Less Allocated Costs  (330,888) (284,029)
Gross Surplus from Fundraising Trading  355,319 297,895

NOTE 6: TRADING INCOME
Sales – Non Charitable Goods  1,811 2,788
Sales – Charitable Goods   15,673 69,604
  17,484 72,392
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the year ended 30 June 2013

  2013 2012 
  $ $

NOTE 7: ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES
Advertising  25,177 19,265
Bad Debts  (2,564) 10,727
Bank Charges  21,802 25,822
Computer Related Expenses  123,423 100,129
Postage  89,260 81,279
Photocopying, Printing and Stationery  160,447 122,171
Sundry  199,360 220,483
Telephone  45,599 53,467
  662,504 633,343

NOTE 8: PERSONNEL EXPENSES
Salaries  2,228,476 2,396,036
Long Service Leave  110,070 24,119
Consultants’ Fees  139,943 60,705
Superannuation  190,383 192,561
WorkCover  19,375 15,059
Other Personnel Expenses  2,575 2,994
  2,690,822 2,691,474

NOTE 9: PROPERTY EXPENSES
Cleaning  25,484 21,759
Power and Light  41,560 29,550
Security/Fire Monitoring  8,727 9,323
Rates  4,115 6,545
Rental  188,345 157,659
Equipment Hire  21,813 20,223
Repairs and Maintenance  13,467 19,768
Insurance  18,218 15,892
Relocation Costs  49,754 –
  377,483 280,719

NOTE 10: RECEIVABLES
Trade Debtors  34,558 36,078
Provision for Doubtful Debts  (1,590) (4,154)
  32,968 31,924
Prepayments  28,870 24,827
Sundry Debtors   32,829 140,351
  94,667 197,102
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 11: PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT
Land and 
Buildings

Computer 
Equipment

Furniture and 
Equipment

Motor  
Vehicle Total

COST OR FAIR VALUE 
At 1 July 2011  6,222,113  514,743  317,382  434,956  7,489,194 

Additions  –  6,550  950  102,844  110,344 

Revaluation –  –   –   – –

Disposals (6,222,113) (2,027) (2,139) (133,092) (6,359,371) 

At 30 June 2012 –    519,266  316,193  404,708  1,240,167 
Additions 4,524,307 78,185 35,075 282,010 4,919,577

Disposals – (310,931) (241,773) (190,893) (743,597)

At 30 Jun 2012 4,524,307 286,520 109,495 495,825 5,416,147
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
At 1 July 2011 –  415,100  259,369  110,853  785,322 

Charge for Year –  50,867  17,759  72,293  140,919 

Disposals  – (2,027) (2,138) (51,548) (55,713) 

At 30 June 2012  –    463,940  274,990  131,598  870,528 
Charge for Year 60,342 48,533 25,210 88,059 222,144

Disposals – (310,930) (240,530) (66,433) (617,893)

At 30 June 2013 60,342 201,543 59,670 153,224 474,779
NET CARRYING AMOUNT
At 30 June 2012 –    55,326  41,203  273,110  369,639
At 30 June 2013 4,463,965 84,977 49,825 342,601 4,941,368

On 30 June 2011, the 818–830 Burke Road properties were sold for net sale proceeds of $6.222 million, which reflected 
the carrying value at 30 June 2011. Settlement was to occur on the 30 June 2012. However, 30 June 2012 occurred on a 
weekend, hence all parties agreed to a final settlement date on 3 July 2012. The sale was recognised effective 30 June 2012 
and the properties classified as Property Held for Sale (Note 21).

On the 17 July 2012 the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated entered into a purchase agreement for a new office 
building at 587 Canterbury Road, Surrey Hills for gross consideration of $4.0 Million. Settlement occurred on 17 September 2012.  

NOTE 12: TRADE CREDITORS AND ACCRUALS
  2013 2012 
 Note $ $
Trade Creditors  190,277 105,666
Other Creditors  43,465 42,410
Accruals and deferred Income  47,072 36,910
Deposits Received on Property Held for Sale 21 – 655,000
  280,814 839,986
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the year ended 30 June 2013

  2013 2012 
  $ $

NOTE 13: INTEREST BEARING LOANS   

Bank Facilities   
Current Interest Bearing Loans    
Bank Overdraft – Secured by Mortgage  – (8,759)
Non- Current Interest Bearing Loans
Bank Loan – Secured by Mortgage  – 734,846
  – 726,087

The Foundation had in place a variable rate home Loan (Facility Limit: $0(2013), $911,726(2012)) with the 
National Australia Bank secured against three of the properties owned by Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria, namely 
826–830 Burke Road Camberwell.

NOTE 14: CASH FLOWS
(a) Cash at Bank  1,032,331 317,292
 Cash on Hand  979 1,136
 Bank Overdraft  – 8,759
 Term Deposit  400,000 –
 Cash and Cash Equivalents  1,433,310 327,187
   
(b) Reconciliation of Total Comprehensive Income (Deficit) to Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) From Operating Activities:

Operating Result Net Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year)  (40,821) (99,467)
    
Depreciation and Amortisation  222,144 140,919
Loss on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment  948 102
Doubtful Debt Provision  – 10,727
Interest Paid  – 50,661
Interest Received  (83,292) (481)
    
Change in Operating Assets and Liabilities   
Decrease/(Increase) in Receivables  102,435 (73,321)
Increase/(Decrease) in Payables  95,828 (159,465)
Increase/(Decrease) in Revenue in Advance  256,154 (35,142)
Increase (Decrease) in Employee Provisions  104,082 (13,315)
 
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) From Operating Activities  657,478 (178,782)
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  2013 2012 
  $ $
NOTE 15: EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS
Annual Leave  221,457 197,787
Long Service Leave  285,693 205,281
  507,150 403,068
Current Liabilities   
Annual Leave  221,457 197,787
Long Service Leave  216,660 205,281
  438,117 403,068
Non-current Liabilities   
Long Service Leave  69,032 –
  69,032 –

During the year there was a change to the basis of calculating Long Service Leave which has generated an additional 
charge of $69,033 and the disclosure of a noncurrent liability

NOTE 16: COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
As at 30 June 2013, the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated had no outstanding capital commitments (2012 nil).

NOTE 17: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 30 June 2013, the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated had no contingent liabilities (2012 nil).

NOTE 18: AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION  
For Auditing of the Financial Statements:    

Current Year   12,500 11,000
For Other Services  – –
  12,500 11,000

NOTE 19: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Directors Remuneration

There was no remuneration received or due and receivable from the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated in 
connection with the management of the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated (2012 nil). 

(b) Other Transactions

The Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated entered into other transactions, which are insignificant in amount, 
with Directors in their domestic dealings within normal customer terms and conditions not more favourable than those 
available in similar arms length dealings.
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NOTE 20: ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE
A significant portion of funding for the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated is obtained from agencies of the 
Victorian Government and public donations.

NOTE 21: PROPERTY HELD FOR SALE
On 30 June 2011 the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria entered into a sale agreement for the properties at 818–830 Burke 
Road, Camberwell for gross consideration of $6.550 million. Settlement occurred on 3 July 2012. The properties were 
classified as Property Held For Sale as at 30 June 2012. Part of the proceeds from the sale was used to repay debt in 
July 2012.

On the 17 July 2012 the Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria Incorporated entered into a purchase agreement for a new 
office building at 587 Canterbury Road, Surrey Hills for gross consideration of $4.0 Million. Settlement occurred on  
17 of September 2012. 

NOTE 22: KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION
There were 4 key management personnel (2012: 4) that have authority for planning, directing and controlling the 
company’s activities, directly or indirectly (other than directors).

The key management personnel compensation included within employee benefits expense is:

  2013 2012 
  $ $
Short-Term Benefits  595,871 592,021
Post-Employment Benefits  – –
Other Long Term Benefits  – –
  595,871 592,021

NOTE 23: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Association’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money market instruments, short-
term investments, trade receivables and trade payables.

The Association does not have any derivative instruments at 30 June 2013 (2012: nil).

Specific Financial Risk Exposures and Management

Financial Risks
The main risks the Association is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk and 
credit risk.

Interest Rate Risk
The Association’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates is minimal as it relates primarily to the 
Association’s at call deposits. The Association does not currently have any interest bearing liabilities. Cash not required 
for working capital purposes is deposited into a term deposit account.

Liquidity Risk
The Association manages liquidity risk by monitoring cash flows and ensuring that adequate cash balances are 
maintained.

Credit Risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or security, at reporting date for recognised 
financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the 
Statement of Financial Position and Notes to the Financial Statements.
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There are no amounts of collateral held as security at reporting date.

At reporting date, the Association does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group 
of receivables under financial instruments entered into by the Association.

NOTE 24: OPERATING LEASES
  2013 2012 
  $ $
Non-cancellable Operating Leases rental payable as follows   

Within one year  110,059 149,945
Between one and five years  82,491 189,923
More Than Five Years  – 
  192,550 339,868

The consolidated entity leases property under operating leases expiring from one to five years. Leases generally provide 
the entity with a right of renewal at which time all terms are renegotiated. Lease payments are generally increased 
every year to reflect market rentals or the terms of the lease. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

During the financial year ended 30 June 2013, $170,934 was recognised as an expense in the statement of 
comprehensive income in respect of operating leases (2012: $145,727).
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Top ten tips for living with epilepsy
1. Take your medication as prescribed as this controls 

seizures in most people. Forgetting a dose, changing 
the time you take medication or using a different 
brand can trigger a seizure. 

2. Learn more about your condition from reliable 
sources such as your doctor, pharmacist, the 
Epilepsy Foundation of Victoria or other health care 
professionals. Gather as much information as you can 
to understand the type of seizures you have, to enable 
you to manage your epilepsy better and educate 
those around you about your condition.

3. Know your triggers and try to manage them – 
for example missed medication, illness and fever, 
stress, lack of sleep, menstruation, extremes or 
changes in temperature (especially hot weather) or 
flickering light can be triggers for some people. 

4. Keep a seizure diary – as you may not be aware 
when you are having a seizure or remember that one 
occurred, ask someone to write a detailed description 
each time you have a seizure and keep the date, 
time and what happened before, during and after 
the seizure. Take it to each doctor’s appointment 
to help your doctor assess the effectiveness of your 
treatment.

5. Have a healthy, balanced lifestyle – people living 
with epilepsy can do a lot to help themselves with 
good self-management, so avoid getting overtired 
or stressed, having too much alcohol, taking illegal 
drugs, exercising excessively or becoming dehydrated. 
Moderate exercise, yoga, meditation, music or time 
relaxing with friends can be helpful.

6. Have a ‘Seizure Management Plan’ so that your 
family, friends, work or school know what to do if you 
have a seizure. This will help others understand what 
is happening so they can help you appropriately.

7. See a specialist to get the best treatment for your 
condition. Your doctor may refer you to a pediatrician, 
neurologist or epileptologist who will look at your 
symptoms, order tests, prescribe the best medication 
for your type of seizure and provide reviews. 

8. Manage your risks – take special care around fire, 
water, heights, operating machinery and driving. 
VicRoads has strict rules about the length of time 
you need to be seizure-free before being allowed 
to drive and your doctor must complete a medical 
report. See www.vicroads.vic.gov.au/Home/Licences/
Medicalreview/NeurologicalConditions.htm.

9. If travelling overseas check that any medications 
are legal in the countries you are visiting. Take a letter 
from your doctor detailing your diagnosis, the name 
of the medication, how much you will be taking and 
that it is for your own personal use, along with a copy 
of the prescriptions. Keep the medication in its original 
packaging. Make sure you have enough prescriptions 
to cover the time you are away from home. For 
further information, see http://smartraveller.gov.au/
tips/health.html.

10. Get some support if you need it – most people with 
epilepsy lead full and happy lives but sometimes you 
or your family might need support, information or 
just someone to talk to. Each State and Territory in 
Australia has an epilepsy support agency. Contact 
1300 852 853 or visit www.epinet.org.au.

For further information contact
•	 Epilepsy	Foundation	on	(03)	8809	0600

•	 Epilepsy	Helpline	on	1300	852	853	 
for the cost of a local call, or 

•	 visit	www.epinet.org.au
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TONIC CLONIC SEIZURE 

Convulsive seizure with loss of consciousness, muscle 
stiffening, falling, followed by jerking movements.

•	 Note	the	time	the	seizure	started	and	time	until	it ends

•	 Protect	the	head	–	if	available	use	a	pillow	or	cushion

•	 Remove	any	hard	objects	that	could	cause	injury

•	 Do	not	attempt	to	restrain	the	person	or	stop	the	jerking	or	
put anything in their mouth

•	 As	soon	as	possible	roll	the	person	onto	their	side	–	you	
may need to wait until the seizure movements have 
ceased 

•	 Talk	to	the	person	to	make	sure	they	have	regained	full	
consciousness

•	 Stay	with	and	reassure	the	person	until	they	
have recovered

ABSENCE SEIZURE 

Mostly in children, consists of brief periods of loss 
of awareness.	Can	be	mistaken	for	day-dreaming	and focal	
dyscognitive seizures.

•	 Timing	can	be	difficult,	count	how	many	happen daily		

•	 Reassure	the	person	and	repeat	any	information	that	may	
have been missed during the seizure

FOCAL DYSCOGNITIVE SEIZURE 

Non-convulsive seizure with outward signs of confusion, 
unresponsiveness or inappropriate behaviour. Can be 
mistaken for alcohol or drug intoxication.

•	 Note	the	time	the	seizure	started	and	time	until it ends	

•	 Avoid	restraining	the	person	and	guide	safely	
around objects	

•	 Talk	to	the	person	to	make	sure	they	have	regained	
full consciousness

•	 Stay	with	and	reassure	the	person	until	they	
have recovered

Seizure first aid

CALL AN AMBULANCE

•	 For	any	seizure	if	you	don’t	know	the	person	
or if there	is no	epilepsy	management	plan

•	 If	the	seizure	continues	for	more	than	five	minutes

•	 If	the	seizure	stops	but	the	person	does	not	regain	
consciousness	within	five	minutes,	or if another	
seizure begins

•	 When	a	serious	injury	has	occurred,	if	it	occurs	
in water,	or if	you	believe	a	woman	is	pregnant


